

Replica Bethe Ansatz solution to the Kardar-Parisi-Zhang equation on the half-line

Alexandre Krajenbrink, Pierre Le Doussal

▶ To cite this version:

Alexandre Krajenbrink, Pierre Le Doussal. Replica Bethe Ansatz solution to the Kardar-Parisi-Zhang equation on the half-line. SciPost Physics, 2020, 8 (3), pp.035. 10.21468/SciPostPhys.8.3.035. hal-02567402

HAL Id: hal-02567402 https://hal.science/hal-02567402v1

Submitted on 23 Aug 2024

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.





Replica Bethe Ansatz solution to the Kardar-Parisi-Zhang equation on the half-line

Alexandre Krajenbrink 1,2* and Pierre Le Doussal 2

1 SISSA and INFN, via Bonomea 265, 34136 Trieste, Italy 2 Laboratoire de Physique de l'École Normale Supérieure, ENS, Université PSL, CNRS, Sorbonne Université, Université Paris-Diderot, Sorbonne Paris Cité, 24 rue Lhomond, 75005 Paris, France

* krajenbrink@ens.fr

Abstract

We consider the Kardar-Parisi-Zhang (KPZ) equation for the stochastic growth of an interface of height h(x,t) on the positive half line with boundary condition $\partial_x h(x,t)|_{x=0}=A$. It is equivalent to a continuum directed polymer (DP) in a random potential in half-space with a wall at x=0 either repulsive A>0, or attractive A<0. We provide an exact solution, using replica Bethe ansatz methods, to two problems which were recently proved to be equivalent [Parekh, arXiv:1901.09449]: the droplet initial condition for arbitrary $A \ge -1/2$, and the Brownian initial condition with a drift for $A=+\infty$ (infinite hard wall). We study the height at x=0 and obtain (i) at all time the Laplace transform of the distribution of its exponential (ii) at infinite time, its exact probability distribution function (PDF). These are expressed in two equivalent forms, either as a Fredholm Pfaffian with a matrix valued kernel, or as a Fredholm determinant with a scalar kernel. For droplet initial conditions and $A>-\frac{1}{2}$ the large time PDF is the GSE Tracy-Widom distribution. For $A=\frac{1}{2}$, the critical point at which the DP binds to the wall, we obtain the GOE Tracy-Widom distribution. In the critical region, $A+\frac{1}{2}=\epsilon t^{-1/3}\to 0$ with fixed $\epsilon=\mathcal{O}(1)$, we obtain a transition kernel continuously depending on ϵ . Our work extends the results obtained previously for $A=+\infty$, A=0 and $A=-\frac{1}{2}$.

© Copyright A. Krajenbrink and P. Le Doussal. This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. Published by the SciPost Foundation.

Received 11-10-2019 Accepted 17-02-2020 Published 04-03-2020



doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.8.3.035

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Presentation of the main results	5
	2.1 Finite time	5
	2.2 Large time limit	6
3	Bethe ansatz calculation for Brownian initial condition with Dirichlet boundary	
	condition	7
	3.1 Bethe ansatz formula for the moments	8



	3.2	Moments in terms of a Pfaffian	12	
	3.3	Generating function in terms of a Fredholm Pfaffian	13	
	3.4	An equivalent kernel	15	
4	_	ge time limit of the Fredholm Pfaffian and the distribution of the KPZ height	16	
	4.1	Large ϵ behavior of the matrix valued kernel and convergence to the GSE-TW		
		distribution	17	
		Alternative expression for the large-time transition matrix-valued kernel	18	
		Small ϵ behavior of the matrix-valued kernel	20	
	4.4	Solution for finite time at $A = -1/2$	22	
5	Fron	n a matrix valued kernel to a scalar kernel	23	
	5.1	Solution for the KPZ generating function at all times for generic <i>A</i> in terms of a		
		scalar kernel	23	
	5.2	Large ϵ behavior of the scalar kernel and convergence to the GSE	23	
	5.3	Small ϵ limit of the scalar kernel and convergence to the GOE	24	
	5.4	Solution for finite time at $A = -1/2$	27	
6	Con	clusion	29	
A	Ove	rlap of the half-line Bethe states with the Brownian initial condition	30	
В	Calc	culation of the first moment of $Z(t)$	31	
С	Com	parison of the Fredholm Pfaffians	32	
	C.1	Series expansion of a Fredholm Pfaffian	32	
	C.2	Kernel with all contours at the right of ϵ	33	
	C.3	Expansion of the Pfaffians in degree of homogeneity	34	
		C.3.1 Comparison of terms of homogeneity 1	35	
		C.3.2 Comparison of terms of homogeneity 2	35	
		C.3.3 Comparison of terms of homogeneity 3	36	
Re	References			

1 Introduction

The continuum Kardar-Parisi-Zhang (KPZ) equation in one dimension [1–7] describes the stochastic growth of an interface parameterized by a height field h(x,t) at point $x \in \mathbb{R}$ and time t. In appropriate units it reads

$$\partial_t h(x,t) = \partial_x^2 h(x,t) + (\partial_x h(x,t))^2 + \sqrt{2} \, \xi(x,t) \,, \tag{1}$$

where $\xi(x,t)$ is a centered Gaussian white noise with $\mathbb{E}\big[\xi(x,t)\xi(x',t')\big] = \delta(x-x')\delta(t-t')$. An important question is to determine the probability distribution function (PDF) for the height at one point, h(0,t), given an initial condition h(x,t=0). Exact solutions, valid for all times t>0, have been obtained for several initial conditions, notably droplet, flat and Brownian (including stationary) [8–16]. Remarkably they are expressed using Fredholm determinants



or Pfaffians. From them it was shown that, in the large time limit, the PDF's of the shifted height fluctuations, $H(t) = h(0,t) + \frac{t}{12} \sim t^{1/3}$, are described by the Tracy Widom distributions [17, 18], i.e. the distributions of the largest eigenvalues of standard Gaussian random matrix ensembles [19,20]. Some of these results were obtained using the replica Bethe ansatz (RBA) method. This method, pioneered by Kardar [21], consists of several steps. First one maps, via the Cole-Hopf transformation $Z(x,t) = e^{h(x,t)}$, the KPZ equation for h(x,t) to the stochastic heat equation (SHE) for Z(x,t), which can then be interpreted as the partition function of a continuum directed polymer of length t in a random potential with final point at x. Next one expresses the n-th integer moment of Z(x,t) using (i) a mapping to the attractive delta Bose gas with n bosons (the replica) in one dimension, and (ii) its exact solution from the Bethe ansatz. From the moments one then obtains the generating function (i.e. the Laplace transform of the PDF of Z(x,t)), and at large time, the PDF of h(x,t).

Here, we consider the KPZ equation on the half-line, where Eq. (1) is considered for $x \in \mathbb{R}^+$ along with the Neumann boundary condition (b.c.)

$$\forall t > 0, \quad \partial_x h(x, t) \big|_{x=0} = A \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad (\partial_x - A) Z(x, t) \big|_{x=0} = 0, \tag{2}$$

where A is a real parameter which describes the interaction with the boundary (a wall at x=0). This problem was considered in a pioneering paper by Kardar [22] in the equivalent representation in terms of a directed polymer in a half space bounded by a wall. The wall is repulsive for A>0 and attractive for A<0. The case $A=+\infty$ imposes Z(x=0,t)=0, an infinitely repulsive wall. It can also be seen as absorbing wall, while A=0 can be seen as a reflecting wall. A binding transition to the wall was predicted for A=-1/2 as A is decreased, from heuristic considerations on the ground state of the associated delta Bose gas in presence of a wall. It was later observed in numerical simulations of a discretized model [23]. More recently, exact results for three specific values of A, i.e. $A=+\infty,0,-1/2$, were obtained [24–26] for the droplet IC defined as

$$h(x,t=0) = -\frac{|x-\kappa|}{\eta} - \log \eta \quad , \quad \eta \to 0^+ \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad Z(x,t=0) = \delta(x-\kappa). \tag{3}$$

What was studied is the height at the origin, H(t), i.e. $H(t) = h(\kappa = 0, t)$ for finite A, and $H(t) = h(\kappa, t) - \log \kappa$ with $\kappa \to 0^+$ since a regularization is needed for $A = +\infty$ (see below). In all three cases the solution can be expressed in terms of a Fredholm Pfaffian involving a matrix kernel [24–27]. For $A = +\infty$, the infinitely repulsive wall, it was found [24] that the PDF of the scaled height, $H(t)/t^{1/3}$, converges at large t to the Tracy-Widom distribution associated to the Gaussian Symplectic Ensemble (GSE) of random matrices [18–20]. Note that the original RBA solution of [24] involves a scalar kernel, but recently an equivalent solution was obtained by us in terms of a matrix kernel [27]. For A = 0, although the finite time matrix kernel differs from the case $A = +\infty$, it was found that the large time limit of the PDF also corresponds to the TW-GSE distribution [25]. Both cases used the mapping to the delta Bose gas, with use of respectively the RBA for $A = +\infty$ and nested contour integral representations of the moments for A = 0. The case $A = -\frac{1}{2}$, i.e. the critical case, was solved instead using a continuum limit from the ASEP model with an open boundary [26]. It was found that at large time the PDF converges to the Tracy Widom distribution associated to the Gaussian Orthogonal Ensemble (GOE) which thus describes the large time behavior at the transition.

Until now the KPZ equation for general A has resisted the analysis. The RBA approach of [24] has been extended using that the associated Bose gas is integrable for general A. This led to an explicit formula for the n-th integer moment of Z [28], which will be fully confirmed here, but valid however only in some restricted range of n and A, namely A + 1/2 > n/2. The origin of this restriction is that for any finite A, a complicated structure of multi particle bound



states to the wall arises in the spectrum of the associated delta Bose gas. This problem did not impact the study in [24] since for $A = +\infty$ there are no boundary bound states. Extracting the PDF from the moments in the restricted range has eluded previous attempts, but here we will provide the solution to this puzzle. Another approach was followed recently: the full structure of these bound states was obtained [29] leading to an improved moment formula a priori valid for all A, n. A (quite formal) Pfaffian formula was obtained from these moments. Among the partial results obtained, the large time limit as a GSE-TW distribution for all A > -1/2, and the convergence to a Gaussian PDF in the bound phase A < -1/2 [29]. This study however failed until now to produce the full finite time answer, and also to obtain the large time behavior in the critical region.

The half-space problem has also been addressed for other solvable models in the KPZ universality class, mostly in the mathematics literature. In a pioneering paper, Baik and Rains [30] studied the longest increasing sub-sequences (LIS) of symmetrized random permutations. The problem maps to a discrete zero temperature model of a directed polymer in a half-space, with a tunable parameter α which makes the boundary more attractive as α increases. They found, in the limit of large polymer length t, a transition when α reaches the critical value $\alpha_c = 1$. For $\alpha < \alpha_c$ the PDF of the fluctuations of the DP energy (analog to the height in a growth model) is given by the Tracy-Widom GSE distribution [18] on the characteristic KPZ scale $t^{1/3}$. For $\alpha > \alpha_c$ the PDF is Gaussian on the scale $t^{1/2}$, as the DP paths are bound to the diagonal line. At the critical point, $\alpha=\alpha_c$ the PDF is given by the GOE Tracy-Widom distribution on the $t^{1/3}$ scale. A similar transition was found for the height distribution in the discrete PNG growth model on a half-line, with a source at the origin, as the the nucleation rate at the origin is increased above a threshold [31, 32]. Results were also obtained for the TASEP in a half-space [33]. Finally, formula were obtained for the (finite temperature) log-gamma DP with symmetric weights [34, 41] and half-quadrant geometries [35] with, however, not yet rigorous asymptotic results. In the case of the ASEP model in a half space a Bethe ansatz study was carried in Ref. [36] without however asymptotic results. In the case A = -1/2, the ASEP and its KPZ limit were studied using half-space Macdonald processes [41] and TW GOE asymptotics were proved, see Refs. [26, 58].

It is natural to conjecture that the transition for the KPZ equation at A = -1/2 is in the same universality class, in the large time limit, as the one discovered by Baik and Rains in [30] and that this universality is common to the full KPZ class, see Ref. [58]. Baik and Rains performed a detailed analysis on a scale $\alpha - 1 = wt^{-1/3}$ around the transition. They found that the PDF depends continuously on w and interpolates between the GSE/GOE/Gaussian distributions as w is increased. This transition PDF was obtained as a solution of Painlevé type system of equations. Further results were obtained recently using Pfaffian-Schur processes, for variants of TASEP models and last passage percolation in a half-quadrant [37,38]. Not only the onepoint, but also the multi-point height distributions where studied (the extended process) and for arbitrary positions with respect to the wall. A Fredholm Pfaffian formula was obtained with an explicit expression for the (extended) matrix kernel around the GSE/GOE/Gaussian transition. One may conjecture that it is compatible with the Painlevé system of [30] but this has not yet been verified. Finally numerical studies have addressed the half-line problem. In [39] the convergence to the GSE was explored in a half-space geometry aimed to open the way for an experimental confirmation. In [23] the Baik Rains transitional PDF was verified and connections to conductance fluctuations in Anderson localization were explored.

The aim of this paper is to provide an exact solution for the KPZ equation on a half-line for generic values of A using the replica Bethe ansatz. We study the height at x = 0 and obtain (i) at all time the generating function (i.e. the Laplace transform of the PDF of $Z = e^h$) (ii) at infinite time, its exact probability distribution function (PDF). These are expressed in two



equivalent forms, either as a Fredholm Pfaffian with a matrix valued kernel, or as a Fredholm determinant with a scalar kernel. For droplet initial conditions and $A > -\frac{1}{2}$ the large time PDF is the GSE Tracy-Widom distribution. We obtain an explicit formula for the transition kernel in the critical region, $A + \frac{1}{2} = \epsilon t^{-1/3} \to 0$ with fixed $\epsilon = \mathcal{O}(1)$, continuously depending on ϵ . Although it is different from the expression obtained in [37,38], we conjecture that the two expressions are in fact equivalent, and check it by a systematic expansion in traces to third order. In the limit $\epsilon \to 0$ we obtain that the PDF converges to the GOE TW distribution. Our results thus show universality and that the KPZ equation in the half-line is in the KPZ class. Note however that for a technical reason, we are able to present the result only for the case $A \ge -1/2$, i.e. $\epsilon \ge 0$.

Our strategy is the following. It is inspired by a theorem shown recently:

Theorem 1.1 (Parekh. Theorem 1.1 from [40]). Let Z(0,x) denote the solution of the Stochastic Heat Equation (SHE) with Robin-boundary parameter $A \in \mathbb{R}$ and droplet initial condition $Z(x,0) = \delta(x)$. Let $Z_{\text{Br}}(x,t)$ the solution to the SHE with Brownian initial condition with drift $A + \frac{1}{2}$ i.e. $Z_{\text{Br}}(x,0) = e^{B(x)-(A+\frac{1}{2})x}$, where B is a (zero drift) Brownian motion, with Dirichlet boundary condition $Z_{\text{Br}}(0,t) = 0$. Then we have the following equality in distributions

$$Z(0,t) = \lim_{\kappa \to 0} \frac{Z_{\text{Br}}(\kappa,t)}{\kappa}.$$
 (4)

Remark 1.2. This theorem comes as a limit of an identity proved in Ref. [41], Proposition 8.1, on half-space Macdonald processes.

We thus choose to study, rather than our original problem with parameter A, the KPZ problem on the half-line with Dirichlet boundary conditions, but with Brownian initial conditions. To be able to apply the theorem we choose the drift of the Brownian to be $A+\frac{1}{2}$. Since the boundary conditions are Dirichlet (i.e. $A=+\infty$) we can apply the same RBA method as in [24] (there are no boundary bound states for $A=+\infty$). The only technical difficulty is the calculation of the "overlap" of the Brownian initial condition with the eigenstates of the delta Bose gas, which we are able to perform. We then obtain a formula for the n-th integer moment of $Z_{\rm Br}(x,0)$, which then leads us to a formula for the moments of the droplet initial condition for generic A using the theorem. Although obtained via a completely different calculation the formula is, in the end, identical to the one obtained in [28] (which, in a sense, confirms the theorem). It is also valid only in the same restricted range $A+\frac{1}{2}>n/2$ (as the overlap diverges beyond). This is a well known difficulty, which arises already on the full line, but was surmounted in Refs [14, 15] to obtain the solution of KPZ with Brownian initial conditions on the full line. We thus follow the same strategy, and it leads us to the abovementioned results.

Let us close by mentioning that these exact formulae for the KPZ equation at all times are very useful to obtain exact results for the large deviations of the PDF of the KPZ height field both at large time [46–49] and short time [50–53] and in particular in the half-space [27] with excellent agreeement with numerics [54,55]. These exact solutions have also been used in the mathematics community to prove exact bounds on the tails of the PDF of the KPZ height, see Refs. [42–45]. Although we will study here only typical fluctuations and not large deviations, the new formulae obtained in this work should also allow for such results for generic *A* in the future.

2 Presentation of the main results

In this paper we obtain in a single unified calculation the statistics of



- (i) $Z(t) = e^{h(t)}$ and $H(t) = h(0, t) + \frac{t}{12}$ where h(0, t) is the height at x = 0 with droplet
- initial condition in presence of a wall of parameter A; (ii) $\hat{Z}_{\rm Br}(t)=e^{h_{\rm Br}(t)}=\lim_{\kappa\to 0^+}e^{h_{\rm Br}(\kappa,t)}$ and $H_{\rm Br}(t)=h_{\rm Br}(\kappa,t)+\frac{t}{12}$ where $h_{\rm Br}(\kappa,t)-\log\kappa$ is the height at $x = \kappa$ with Brownian initial condition with a drift $A + \frac{1}{2}$ in presence of a hard-wall.

From the theorem of Parekh in [40] one has the equality of the two generating functions, for any $\varsigma > 0$

$$\mathbb{E}_{\text{KPZ,Brownian}} \left[\exp(-\varsigma e^{H_{\text{Br}}(t)}) \right] = \mathbb{E}_{\text{KPZ}} \left[\exp(-\varsigma e^{H(t)}) \right]. \tag{5}$$

The expected value of the left hand side is taken over the white noise of the KPZ equation and the Brownian initial condition while the expected value of the right hand side is taken over the white noise of the KPZ equation.

2.1 Finite time

Our main result valid for all time $t \ge 0$ and all $A > -\frac{1}{2}$ is that the generating function for $\zeta > 0$ can be written as a Fredholm Pfaffian

$$\mathbb{E}_{KPZ}\Big[\exp(-\varsigma e^{H(t)})\Big] = 1 + \sum_{n_s=1}^{+\infty} \frac{(-1)^{n_s}}{n_s!} \prod_{p=1}^{n_s} \int_{\mathbb{R}} dr_p \frac{\varsigma}{\varsigma + e^{-r_p}} Pf\Big[K(r_i, r_j)\Big]_{n_s \times n_s},$$
 (6)

where kernel K is matrix valued and represented by a 2×2 block matrix with elements

$$K_{11}(r,r') = \iint_{C^{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{\Gamma(A+\frac{1}{2}-w)}{\Gamma(A+\frac{1}{2}+w)} \frac{\Gamma(A+\frac{1}{2}-z)}{\Gamma(A+\frac{1}{2}+z)} \times \Gamma(2w)\Gamma(2z)\cos(\pi w)\cos(\pi z)e^{-rw-r'z+t} \frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3},$$

$$K_{22}(r,r') = \iint_{C^{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{\Gamma(A+\frac{1}{2}-w)}{\Gamma(A+\frac{1}{2}+w)} \frac{\Gamma(A+\frac{1}{2}-z)}{\Gamma(A+\frac{1}{2}+z)} \times \Gamma(2w)\Gamma(2z) \frac{\sin(\pi w)}{\pi} \frac{\sin(\pi z)}{\pi} e^{-rw-r'z+t} \frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3},$$

$$K_{12}(r,r') = \iint_{C^{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{\Gamma(A+\frac{1}{2}-w)}{\Gamma(A+\frac{1}{2}+w)} \frac{\Gamma(A+\frac{1}{2}-z)}{\Gamma(A+\frac{1}{2}+z)} \times \Gamma(2w)\Gamma(2z)\cos(\pi w) \frac{\sin(\pi z)}{\pi} e^{-rw-r'z+t} \frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3},$$

$$K_{21}(r,r') = -K_{12}(r',r).$$

In this formula the contours C are parallel to the imaginary axis and cross the real axis between 0 and $A + \frac{1}{2}$. For definition and more details about Fredholm Pfaffians see the end of Section 3.3. For a visual illustration of the block structure in the Pfaffians of matrix valued kernel, appearing in (6), see e.g. (146).

Remark 2.1. This formula reproduces the known cases. For $A \to +\infty$, the ratio of Γ functions containing A behaves as $\sim e^{-2(w+z)\log A}$. A change of variable $r = \tilde{r} - 2\log A$ then recovers the formula that we obtained in Eq. (5) and (6) of [27] with the correspondence $H_1 = H(t) + 2 \log A$ (up to a trivial rescaling involving time explained below Eq. (62) in [27]). There it was shown that this formula is equivalent to the result obtained in [24] in terms of a scalar kernel. Our result for A = 0, using some elementary manipulations ¹ identifies with the one in [25]. The limit $A = -\frac{1}{2}$ of our formula is more involved, and we discuss it below.

We first rewrite (7) using $\frac{\sin \pi z}{\pi} = \frac{1}{\Gamma(z)\Gamma(1-z)}$, $\cos \pi z = \frac{\pi}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+z)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-z)}$, $\Gamma(2z) = \Gamma(z)\Gamma(z+\frac{1}{2})2^{2z-1}/\sqrt{\pi}$ for z and for w. We can now compare with formula (5) and below in [25] (arXiv version). One finds $K_{22}(r,r') = \tilde{K}_{11}(-r,-r')/\pi$ (using the change $(w_1, w_2) \to (-w, -z)$) $K_{11}(r, r') = \tilde{K}_{22}(-r, -r')\pi$ (using the change $(s_1, s_2) \to (w, z)$) and



The series in Eq. (6) can also be interpreted as a Fredholm Pfaffian, see Eq. (54), implying a duality between the generating function of the exponential KPZ height and an average of a "Fermi factor" over a Pfaffian point process (see Ref. [27] Eq. 7 for instance for further details on this type of duality)

$$\mathbb{E}_{KPZ}\left[\exp(-\varsigma e^{H(t)})\right] = \mathbb{E}_K\left[\prod_{i=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{1+\varsigma e^{a_i}}\right],\tag{8}$$

where the set $\{a_i\}$ forms a Pfaffian point process with kernel K.

2.2 Large time limit

At large time, we have obtained the following limit behavior of the solution of the Kardar-Parisi-Zhang equation:

• For any $A > -\frac{1}{2}$, the one-point KPZ height fluctuations follow the Tracy-Widom GSE distribution

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \mathbb{P}\left(\frac{h(0,t) + \frac{t}{12}}{t^{1/3}} \le s\right) = F_4(s). \tag{9}$$

• For $A = -\frac{1}{2}$, the one-point KPZ height fluctuations follow the Tracy-Widom GOE distribution.

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \mathbb{P}\left(\frac{h(0,t) + \frac{t}{12}}{t^{1/3}} \le s\right) = F_1(s). \tag{10}$$

Remark 2.2. Here $F_4(s) = \frac{1}{2}(F_1(s) + \frac{F_2(s)}{F_1(s)})$ is the cumulative distribution function (CDF) of the GSE-TW distribution, as defined in [56]. Another convention, which we denote \tilde{F}_4 with $F_4(s) = \tilde{F}_4(\frac{s}{\sqrt{2}})$, is given in [18,57].

Near the transition point A=-1/2, there is critical regime for $A+\frac{1}{2}\to 0$ and $t\to +\infty$ simultaneously, with the crossover parameter $\epsilon=(A+\frac{1}{2})t^{1/3}$ being kept fixed and $\mathcal{O}(1)$. From the above formula (7) taking $\varsigma=e^{-st^{1/3}}$ one obtains the large time limit of the matrix kernel. This limit kernel, which depends continuously on ϵ , is called the transition matrix kernel. Its expression, K^{ϵ} , is given in two equivalent forms in Eqs. (64) and in Eqs. (71) for $\epsilon>0$. In the limit $\epsilon\to +\infty$ this transition kernel becomes equal to the standard matrix kernel of the GSE (the GSE limit is also obtained by taking the large time limit for any fixed A>-1/2 directly from (7)). The transition at A=-1/2 for the KPZ equation is believed to be in the same universality class than the one for last passage percolation in a half-quadrant. For the latter an explicit Fredholm Pfaffian formula was obtained in Ref. [37,38]. Although the kernel there is different from ours, we have checked by expansion in traces to third order that for $\epsilon>0$ their Fredholm Pfaffian coincides (see Appendix C).

In Ref. [27] we presented a general procedure to construct a scalar kernel from a matrix valued kernel with a Schur Pfaffian structure. Here we use this method to obtain the CDF of the one-point KPZ height in terms of a Fredholm determinant involving the following scalar kernel

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \mathbb{P}\left(\frac{H(t)}{t^{1/3}} \le s\right) = \sqrt{\operatorname{Det}(I - \bar{K})_{\mathbb{L}^2([s, +\infty[))}} := F^{(\epsilon)}(s), \tag{11}$$

 $K_{12}(r',r) = \tilde{K}_{12}(-r,-r')\pi$ (using the change $(s,w) \to (w,-z)$), where \tilde{K} denotes the kernel displayed in formula (5) and below in [25]. One has also performed a shift $r,r' \to r,r'+2\log 2$, which together with the identification $\zeta/4 \equiv -\zeta$ shows that $Z^{(0)}$ in [25] is identical to e^H here. The extra $(-1)^{n_s} = (-1)^L$ factor amounts to the permutation of the column and lines of the 2×2 block Pfaffian. Finally, t/2 there is t here.



where the transition kernel for $\epsilon > 0$ is given by

$$\bar{K}(x,y) = \frac{1}{2} \iint_{C^2} \frac{\mathrm{d}w\mathrm{d}z}{(2i\pi)^2} \frac{\epsilon + w}{\epsilon - w} \frac{\epsilon + z}{\epsilon - z} \frac{w - z}{w + z} \frac{1}{w} e^{-xz - yw + \frac{w^3 + z^3}{3}}.$$
 (12)

Here, the contours C are parallel to the imaginary axis and cross the real axis between 0 and ϵ . For $\epsilon \to +\infty$, we check that this kernel converges towards the scalar kernel associated to the GSE, obtained in [24] for the droplet initial condition with $A = +\infty$. The limit $\epsilon \to 0^+$ is more delicate to handle, but via a careful analysis we are able to show that it converges towards the known scalar kernel of the GOE-TW distribution. We have introduced the notation $F^{(\epsilon)}(s)$ for further purpose. Hence we show here that $F^{(0)}(s) = F_1(s)$.

In Section 5.4 we extend our calculation and obtain the scalar kernel at any finite time. The explicit result in displayed in Eqs. (124), (125), (126) and (112).

Finally, although we do not address the case A < -1/2 or $\epsilon < 0$ the conjectured equivalence with the kernel of Ref. [37,38] (which holds for $\epsilon > 0$) suggests that for any $A < -\frac{1}{2}$, the one-point KPZ height has Gaussian fluctuations.

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \mathbb{P}\left(\frac{h(0,t) + t(\frac{1}{12} - (A + \frac{1}{2})^2)}{t^{1/2}\sqrt{2A + 1}} \le s\right) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{-\infty}^{s} dy e^{-\frac{y^2}{2}},\tag{13}$$

which is also the conclusion of the RBA analysis of [29], arising there from the contribution of the boundary bound states. Physically it is expected indeed in the phase where the DP is bound to the wall.

3 Bethe ansatz calculation for Brownian initial condition with Dirichlet boundary condition

Let us recall that via the Cole-Hopf mapping the partition sum $Z(x,t) = e^{h(x,t)}$, where h(x,t) is solution of the KPZ equation (1), satisfies the stochastic heat equation (SHE)

$$\partial_t Z(x,t) = \partial_x^2 Z(x,t) + \sqrt{2}\,\xi(x,t)\,Z(x,t) \tag{14}$$

understood here with the Ito prescription. Here we consider the problem on the half-line $x \ge 0$. Let us denote $Z_{\rm Br}(x,t)$ the solution of the SHE (14) with the Brownian initial condition in presence of a drift $A + \frac{1}{2}$

$$Z_{\rm Br}(x,0) = e^{B(x) - (A + \frac{1}{2})x},\tag{15}$$

where B(x) is the standard Brownian (i.e. with B(0) = 0), and with Dirichlet boundary condition $Z_{\rm Br}(x=0,t)=0$. We will first calculate the integer moments of $Z_{\rm Br}(x,t)$, from which we will obtain the moments of the limit $\hat{Z}_{\rm Br}(t)=\lim_{\kappa\to 0^+}Z_{\rm Br}(\kappa,t)/\kappa$. Then we will use that

$$\mathbb{E}_{KPZ,B}\left[\hat{Z}_{Br}(t)^{n}\right] = \mathbb{E}_{KPZ}\left[Z(t)^{n}\right]$$
(16)

to obtain the moments of Z(t) = Z(x = 0, t), which denotes here the solution of the SHE for the droplet initial condition and a wall of parameter A, our problem of main interest. Note that on the left hand side the average is over the Brownian B(x) and the KPZ noise while on the r.h.s. it is over the KPZ noise only.



The general equal time moments of the solution of the SHE, $Z_{Br}(x,t)$, over the KPZ noise can be expressed [21] as quantum mechanical expectation values of the evolution operator in imaginary time of the Lieb Liniger model [59]

$$\mathbb{E}_{\text{KPZ},B} \left[Z_{\text{Br}}(x_1, t) \dots Z_{\text{Br}}(x_n, t) \right] = \langle x_1 \dots x_n | e^{-tH_n} | \Psi(t = 0) \rangle. \tag{17}$$

Here H_n is the Hamiltonian of the Lieb Liniger model [59] for n quantum particles with attractive delta function interactions of strength $c = -\bar{c} < 0$

$$H_n = -\sum_{i=1}^n \partial_{x_i}^2 - 2\bar{c} \sum_{1 \le i < j \le n} \delta(x_i - x_j), \tag{18}$$

with here an below, in our units $\bar{c} = 1$. The initial state is such that

$$\mathbb{E}_{\text{KPZ},B} \left[Z_{\text{Br}}(x_1, t=0) \dots Z_{\text{Br}}(x_n, t=0) \right] = \langle x_1 \dots x_n | \Psi(t=0) \rangle. \tag{19}$$

Since here we are considering the Brownian initial condition and interested in averages both over the Brownian and the KPZ noise we must take the initial state $|\Psi(t=0)\rangle$ as

$$\langle x_1 \dots, x_n | \Psi(t=0) \rangle = \Phi_0(x_1, \dots, x_n) := \mathbb{E}_B \left[\exp \left(\sum_{j=1}^n B(x_j) - (A + \frac{1}{2}) x_j \right) \right].$$
 (20)

A simple calculation shows that $\Phi_0(x_1,...,x_n)$ is the fully symmetric function which in the sector $0 \le x_1 < \cdots \le x_n$ takes the form

$$\Phi_0(x_1, \dots, x_n) = \exp\left(\sum_{j=1}^n \frac{1}{2} (2n - 2j + 1) x_j - (A + \frac{1}{2}) x_j\right). \tag{21}$$

3.1 Bethe ansatz formula for the moments

We can now rewrite (17) at coinciding points using the decomposition of the evolution operator e^{-tH_n} in terms of the eigenstates of H_n as

$$\mathbb{E}_{\text{KPZ,B}} \left[Z_{\text{Br}}(x,t)^n \right] = \sum_{\mu} \Psi_{\mu}(x,\dots,x) \langle \Psi_{\mu} | \Phi_0 \rangle \frac{1}{||\mu||^2} e^{-tE_{\mu}}.$$
 (22)

Here the un-normalized eigenfunctions of H_n are denoted Ψ_μ (of norm denoted $||\mu||$) with eigenenergies E_μ . Here we used the fact that only symmetric (i.e. bosonic) eigenstates contribute since the initial and final states are fully symmetric in the x_i . Hence the \sum_μ denotes a sum over all bosonic eigenstates of the Lieb-Liniger model, also called delta Bose gas, and $\langle \Psi_\mu | \Phi_0 \rangle$ denotes the overlap, i.e. the hermitian scalar product of the initial state (21) with the eigenstate Ψ_μ .

We should remember now that H_n is defined on the half-line $x \ge 0$. The boundary condition (2) at the wall with parameter A translates into the same boundary condition for the wavefunctions (in each of their coordinate). This half-line quantum mechanical problem can be solved by the Bethe ansatz for $A = +\infty$, i.e. for Dirichlet boundary condition as needed here [36, 60, 61] (see also section 5.1 of [62]). Note that it can also be solved for arbitrary A, [25, 62–68] which led to the formula in [28] and [29], but here we circumvent this, using instead the Brownian with Dirichlet boundary condition.



From the Bethe ansatz the eigenstates Ψ_{μ} are thus Bethe states, i.e. superpositions of plane waves over all permutations P of the n rapidities λ_j for $j \in [1, n]$ with an additional summation over opposite pairs $\pm \lambda_j$ due to the infinite hard wall. The bosonic (fully symmetric) eigenstates can be obtained everywhere from their expression in the sector $x_1 < \cdots < x_n$, which reads

$$\Psi_{\mu}(x_{1},...,x_{n}) = \frac{1}{(2i)^{n}} \sum_{P \in S_{n}} \prod_{p=1}^{n} \left(\sum_{\varepsilon_{p}=\pm 1} \varepsilon_{p} e^{i\varepsilon_{p}x_{p}\lambda_{P(p)}} A[\varepsilon_{1}\lambda_{P(1)}, \varepsilon_{2}\lambda_{P(2)},...,\varepsilon_{n}\lambda_{P(n)}] \right),$$

$$A[\lambda_{1},...,\lambda_{n}] = \prod_{n \ge \ell > k \ge 1} (1 + \frac{i\bar{c}}{\lambda_{\ell} - \lambda_{k}}) (1 + \frac{i\bar{c}}{\lambda_{\ell} + \lambda_{k}}).$$
(23)

This wavefunction automatically satisfies both

1. The matching condition arising from the $\delta(x_i - x_i)$ interaction

$$\left(\partial_{x_{i+1}} - \partial_{x_i} + \bar{c}\right) \Psi_{\mu}(x_1, \dots, x_n) \big|_{x_{i+1} = x_i} = 0.$$
(24)

2. The hardwall boundary condition $\Psi_{\mu}(x_1,...,x_n)=0$ if some $x_i=0$.

The allowed values for the rapidities λ_i , which parametrize the true physical eigenstates are determined by the Bethe equations arising from the boundary conditions at x=L as discussed below. One will find that the normalized eigenstates $\psi_{\mu} = \Psi_{\mu}/||\mu||$ vanish as $(\lambda_i - \lambda_j)$ or $(\lambda_i + \lambda_j)$ when two rapidities become equal or opposite: hence the rapidities obey an exclusion principle.

The detailed Bethe equations, which determine the allowed values for the set of rapidities $\{\lambda_j\}$, depend on the choice of boundary condition at x=L. However, in the $L\to +\infty$ limit, these details do not matter. For simplicity we choose another hardwall at x=L. The Bethe equations then read

$$e^{2i\lambda_j L} = \prod_{\ell \neq i} \frac{\lambda_j - \lambda_\ell - i\bar{c}}{\lambda_j - \lambda_\ell + i\bar{c}} \frac{\lambda_j + \lambda_\ell - i\bar{c}}{\lambda_j + \lambda_\ell + i\bar{c}}.$$
 (25)

Remark 3.1. This set of equations is invariant by $\lambda_i \rightarrow -\lambda_i$ for any j.

In the case of the infinite hardwall, these equations are also given in Ref. [61] and their solutions in the large L limit were studied in Ref. [69]. The structure of the states for infinite L is found similar to the standard case, i.e. the general eigenstates are built by partitioning the n particles into a set of n_s bound-states formed by $m_j \ge 1$ particles with $n = \sum_{j=1}^{n_s} m_j$. Each bound state is a *perfect string* [70], i.e. a set of rapidities

$$\lambda^{j,a} = k_j + \frac{i\bar{c}}{2}(m_j + 1 - 2a),$$
 (26)

where $a = 1, ..., m_j$ labels the rapidities within the string. Such eigenstates have momentum and energy

$$K_{\mu} = \sum_{j=1}^{n_s} m_j k_j, \qquad E_{\mu} = \sum_{j=1}^{n_s} m_j k_j^2 - \frac{\bar{c}^2}{12} m_j (m_j^2 - 1).$$
 (27)

The ground-state corresponds to a single *n*-string with $k_1 = 0$. The difference with the standard case is that the states are now invariant by a sign change of any of the momenta $\lambda_j \to -\lambda_j$,



i.e. $k_j \to -k_j$. From now on, we will denote the wavefunctions of the string states as $\Psi_{\{k_\ell, m_\ell\}}$. The inverse of the squared norm of an arbitrary string state was obtained in Ref. [24] as ²

$$||\mu||^{2} := \int_{0}^{L} dx_{1} \cdots \int_{0}^{L} dx_{n} |\Psi_{\{k_{\ell}, m_{\ell}\}}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{n})|^{2}$$

$$\frac{1}{||\mu||^{2}} = \frac{1}{n!} \bar{c}^{n-n_{s}} 2^{n_{s}} \prod_{i=1}^{n_{s}} S_{k_{i}, m_{i}} \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n_{s}} D_{k_{i}, m_{i}, k_{j}, m_{j}} L^{-n_{s}}$$

$$D_{k_{1}, m_{1}, k_{2}, m_{2}} = \left(\frac{4(k_{1} - k_{2})^{2} + (m_{1} - m_{2})^{2} c^{2}}{4(k_{1} - k_{2})^{2} + (m_{1} + m_{2})^{2} c^{2}}\right) \times \left(\frac{4(k_{1} + k_{2})^{2} + (m_{1} - m_{2})^{2} c^{2}}{4(k_{1} + k_{2})^{2} + (m_{1} + m_{2})^{2} c^{2}}\right)$$

$$S_{k, m} = \frac{2^{2m-2}}{m^{2}} \prod_{p=1}^{[m/2]} \frac{4k^{2} + c^{2}(m-2p)^{2}}{4k^{2} + c^{2}(m+1-2p)^{2}},$$

$$(28)$$

with $S_{k,1}=1$. Note that we have only kept the leading term in L as $L\to +\infty$. Inserting the norm formula Eq. (28) into Eq. (22), we obtain the starting formula for the integer moments of the partition sum with Brownian weight on the endpoint in the limit $L\to +\infty$

$$\mathbb{E}_{\text{KPZ,B}} \left[Z_{\text{Br}}(x,t)^{n} \right] = \sum_{n_{s}=1}^{n} \frac{2^{n_{s}} \bar{c}^{n}}{n_{s}! \bar{c}^{n_{s}} n!} \prod_{p=1}^{n_{s}} \sum_{m_{p} \geqslant 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{dk_{p}}{2\pi} m_{p} S_{k_{p},m_{p}} e^{(m_{p}^{3} - m_{p}) \frac{\bar{c}^{2} t}{12} - m_{p} k_{p}^{2} t}$$

$$\times \delta_{n,\sum_{j=1}^{n_{s}} m_{j}} \prod_{i < j}^{n_{s}} D_{k_{i},m_{i},k_{j},m_{j}} \Psi_{\{k_{\ell},m_{\ell}\}}(x,\ldots,x) \left\langle \Psi_{\{k_{\ell},m_{\ell}\}} | \Phi_{0} \right\rangle.$$

$$(29)$$

Here the Kronecker delta enforces the constraint $\sum_{j=1}^{n_s} m_j = n$ with $m_j \ge 1$ and in the summation over states we used $\sum_{k_j} \to m_j L \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{\mathrm{d}k}{2\pi}$ which holds also here in the large L limit: the momenta sums become continuous and one can use that the string momenta $m_j k_j$ correspond to free particles as in Refs. [9, 12, 13, 24, 29]. Since we are interested in

$$\hat{Z}_{Br}(t) = \lim_{x \to 0^+} \frac{Z_{Br}(x, t)}{x},\tag{30}$$

we can simplify the factor $\Psi_{\{k_\ell,m_\ell\}}(x,\cdots,x)$ in (29). For the general Bethe state (23) (before insertion of the string solution), the small x limit reads

$$\Psi_{\mu}(x,...,x) = n!x^n \prod_{j=1}^n \lambda_j + \mathcal{O}(x^{n+1}).$$
 (31)

Inserting the string solution we see that we can replace in (29) at small x

$$\Psi_{\{k_{\ell},m_{\ell}\}}(x,\cdots,x) = n! x^{n} \prod_{i=1}^{n_{s}} A_{k_{j},m_{j}} + \mathcal{O}(x^{n+1}), \tag{32}$$

$$A_{k,m} = \prod_{a=1}^{m} (k + i\frac{\bar{c}}{2}(m+1-2a)) = (-i\bar{c})^{m} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1+m}{2} + \frac{ik}{\bar{c}})}{\Gamma(\frac{1-m}{2} + \frac{ik}{\bar{c}})}.$$
 (33)

To obtain the n-th moment of (30) from (29) we still need to calculate the overlap $\langle \Psi_{\{k_\ell,m_\ell\}}|\Phi_0\rangle$ where Φ_0 is given in (21). In general it involves sums over permutations and leads to complicated expressions unless there is some kind of "miracle", known to happen in full space only for a few special initial conditions (droplet, half-flat, Brownian). Here, as we

²correcting the small misprint in formula (9) in [24].



find in the Appendix A, the final result in the half-space for Brownian initial conditions is quite simple

$$\langle \Psi_{\mu} | \Phi_0 \rangle = n! \prod_{j=1}^n \frac{\lambda_j}{A^2 + \lambda_j^2}.$$
 (34)

Inserting the rapidities λ_j of the string state one see that the denominator of this formula reads

$$E_{k,j} = \prod_{a=1}^{m} \frac{1}{A^2 + (k + i\frac{\bar{c}}{2}(m+1-2a))^2} = \frac{1}{\bar{c}^{2m}} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1-m}{2} + \frac{A+ik}{\bar{c}})}{\Gamma(\frac{1+m}{2} + \frac{A+ik}{\bar{c}})} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1-m}{2} + \frac{A-ik}{\bar{c}})}{\Gamma(\frac{1+m}{2} + \frac{A-ik}{\bar{c}})},$$
 (35)

while the numerator was already calculated in (32). We can thus define $C_{k,j} = A_{k,j}^2 E_{k,j}$ and putting all together we obtain the starting expression for the integer moments:

$$\mathbb{E}_{KPZ} \left[\hat{Z}_{Br}(t)^{n} \right] = \sum_{n_{s}=1}^{n} \frac{2^{n_{s}} \bar{c}^{n} n!}{n_{s}! \bar{c}^{n_{s}}} \qquad \prod_{p=1}^{n_{s}} \sum_{m_{p} \geqslant 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{dk_{p}}{2\pi} C_{k_{p}, m_{p}} m_{p} S_{k_{p}, m_{p}} e^{(m_{p}^{3} - m_{p}) \frac{\bar{c}^{2} t}{12} - m_{p} k_{p}^{2} t}$$

$$\times \delta_{n, \sum_{j=1}^{n_{s}} m_{j}} \prod_{i < j}^{n_{s}} D_{k_{i}, m_{i}, k_{j}, m_{j}}, \qquad (36)$$

where the expressions for C, S, D are given above and where we recall the constraint $\sum_{i=1}^{n_s} m_i = n$. Let us use $\bar{c} = 1$ from now on. Denoting

$$B_{k,m} = 4m^{2}C_{k,m}S_{k,m}$$

$$= 2k(-i)^{2m-1} \prod_{j=1-m}^{m-1} (2ik+j) \prod_{a=1}^{m} \frac{1}{A^{2} + (k+i\frac{1}{2}(m+1-2a))^{2}}$$

$$= \prod_{j=0}^{m-1} (4k^{2} + j^{2}) \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1-m}{2} + A + ik)}{\Gamma(\frac{1+m}{2} + A + ik)} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1-m}{2} + A - ik)}{\Gamma(\frac{1+m}{2} + A - ik)}$$

$$= \frac{2k}{\pi} \sinh(2\pi k) \Gamma(2ik+m) \Gamma(-2ik+m) \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1-m}{2} + A + ik)}{\Gamma(\frac{1+m}{2} + A + ik)} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1-m}{2} + A - ik)}{\Gamma(\frac{1+m}{2} + A - ik)}.$$
(37)

The starting formula for the moments of our two equivalent problems (droplet initial conditions with any A, and Brownian initial condition with drift A + 1/2 and Dirichlet) reads

$$\mathbb{E}_{KPZ}[Z(t)^{n}] = \mathbb{E}_{KPZ,B}[\hat{Z}_{Br}(t)^{n}]$$

$$= \sum_{n_{s}=1}^{n} \frac{n! 2^{n_{s}}}{n_{s}!} \prod_{p=1}^{n_{s}} \sum_{m_{p} \geq 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{dk_{p}}{2\pi} \frac{B_{k_{p},m_{p}}}{4m_{p}} e^{(m_{p}^{3}-m_{p})\frac{t}{12}-m_{p}k_{p}^{2}t} \delta_{n,\sum_{j=1}^{n_{s}} m_{j}} \prod_{i < j}^{n_{s}} D_{k_{i},m_{i},k_{j},m_{j}},$$
(38)

where $B_{k,m}$ is given in (37) and D_{k_i,m_i,k_j,m_j} is given in (28) and where we recall the constraint $\sum_{j=1}^{n_s} m_j = n$. This formula is identical to the one obtained by a completely different calculation in [28] for the problem of the droplet initial condition with any A, consistent with the theorem of Ref. [40]. For $A \to +\infty$ one recovers the expression (11) in [24], i.e the same without the ratio of Gamma functions involving A, using that Z there is $\lim_{A\to +\infty} A^2 Z(t)$ here.

It is important to note that, strictly, the formula (34) for the overlap of the string states with the Brownian initial condition is valid only when the multiple integrals in the scalar product are convergent. This requires (see discussion in the Appendix A) the condition $n/2 < A + \frac{1}{2}$. Hence the above formula for the integer moments $\mathbb{E}_{KPZ,B} \lceil \hat{Z}_{Br}(t)^n \rceil$ is valid only when the drift



is large enough, for each value of n. This requirement for the drift is identical to the one obtained in the full space, for the Brownian initial condition in [14,15] and for the half-Brownian initial condition in [71]. There, it was shown how to nevertheless use these restricted moment formula to construct the full solution for the generating function of the moments at finite time (see definition below). Here we follow the same strategy as in these works and we refer the reader to Ref. [15] Section 4.3 for further details. The main idea behind the continuation of the moment formula is that it is possible to avoid all divergences in the complex plane by finely tuning the contour integrals of the Mellin-Barnes summation formula, which is possible as long as $A + 1/2 \ge 0$.

The resulting solution obtained in [14, 15, 71] for the full space holds for any positive drifts. The limit of zero drift is quite delicate, but can be performed, and leads to the Baik Rains distribution for stationary KPZ. The analog in the half-space is that we obtain below a formula valid for positive drift, A > -1/2. With some efforts, we are able to extend it to A = -1/2 the critical case, leading to the GOE-TW distribution. We have not attempted to obtain the solution for A < -1/2, i.e. negative drift.

Since the two problems are in correspondence, due to the theorem of Parekh in [40], the above formula for the moments $\mathbb{E}_{KPZ}[Z(t)^n]$ for the droplet initial condition and wall parameter A is also valid only for $n/2 < A + \frac{1}{2}$. In that case, this restriction arises from an a priori different origin. As shown in [29], the string states discussed above do not form a complete basis for generic A: new boundary bound states arise. To obtain a formula for the moments valid for any n, A is possible but requires to include all boundary states, as done in [29]. This is illustrated here in the Appendix B for the first moment of Z(t). We will not follow that route here, although connections between the two approaches must exist.

3.2 Moments in terms of a Pfaffian

An important identity, which makes the problem solvable in the end, is that the inverse norms of the states can be expressed as a Schur Pfaffian. Introducing the reduced variables $X_{2p-1}=m_p+2ik_p$ and $X_{2p}=m_p-2ik_p$ for $p\in[1,n_s]$, the norm reads

$$\prod_{1 \le i < j \le n_s} D_{k_i, m_i, k_j, m_j} = \prod_{j=1}^{n_s} \frac{m_j}{2ik_j} \Pr_{2n_s \times 2n_s} \left[\frac{X_i - X_j}{X_i + X_j} \right], \tag{39}$$

where we recall that the Pfaffian of an anti-symmetric matrix A of size $N \times N$ is defined by

$$Pf(A) = \sqrt{Det(A)} = \sum_{\substack{\sigma \in S_N, \\ \sigma(2p-1) < \sigma(2p)}} sign(\sigma) \prod_{p=1}^{N/2} A_{\sigma(2p-1), \sigma(2p)}, \tag{40}$$

and that the Schur Pfaffian is given by (see Ref. [78])

$$\operatorname{Pf}\left[\frac{X_i - X_j}{X_i + X_j}\right] = \prod_{i < j} \frac{X_i - X_j}{X_i + X_j}.$$
(41)

Hence the starting formula for the moments now becomes:

$$\mathbb{E}_{KPZ} \left[Z(t)^{n} \right] = \mathbb{E}_{KPZ,B} \left[\hat{Z}_{Br}(t)^{n} \right]$$

$$= \sum_{n_{s}=1}^{n} \frac{n!}{n_{s}!} \prod_{p=1}^{n_{s}} \sum_{m_{p} \geqslant 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{dk_{p}}{2\pi} \frac{B_{k_{p},m_{p}}}{4ik_{p}} e^{(m_{p}^{3}-m_{p})\frac{t}{12}-m_{p}k_{p}^{2}t} \delta_{n,\sum_{j=1}^{n_{s}} m_{j}} \Pr_{2n_{s} \times 2n_{s}} \left[\frac{X_{i}-X_{j}}{X_{i}+X_{j}} \right].$$

$$(42)$$



3.3 Generating function in terms of a Fredholm Pfaffian

We will now write the generating function for the moments of Z(t), i.e. focusing on the droplet initial condition with generic A (the result being identical for the Brownian with Dirichlet boundary conditions). It is defined, for $\varsigma > 0$, as

$$g(\varsigma) = \mathbb{E}_{KPZ} \left[\exp(-\varsigma e^{\frac{t}{12}} Z(t)) \right] = 1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\left(-\varsigma e^{\frac{t}{12}}\right)^n}{n!} \mathbb{E}_{KPZ} \left[Z(t)^n \right]. \tag{43}$$

The constraint $\sum_{i=1}^{n_s} m_i = n$ in Eq. (42) can then be relaxed by reorganizing the series according to the number of strings:

$$g(\varsigma) = 1 + \sum_{n_s=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n_s!} Z(n_s, \varsigma),$$
 (44)

where $Z(n_s,\varsigma)$ is the partition sum at fixed number of strings, calculated below. We now show that one can write the generating function as a Fredholm Pfaffian. It will be possible thanks to the Schur Pfaffian identity, Eq. (39), given above. The partition sum at fixed number of strings, expressed in terms of the reduced variables $X_{2p-1}=m_p+2ik_p$ and $X_{2p}=m_p-2ik_p$ for $p\in[1,n_s]$, reads

$$Z(n_s,\varsigma) = \prod_{p=1}^{n_s} \sum_{m_p \geqslant 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{\mathrm{d}k_p}{2\pi} (-\varsigma)^{m_p} \frac{B_{k_p,m_p}}{4ik_p} e^{-tm_p k_p^2 + \frac{t}{12}m_p^3} \Pr_{2n_s \times 2n_s} \left[\frac{X_i - X_j}{X_i + X_j} \right], \tag{45}$$

where $B_{k,m}$ was given in (37). The summation over the variables m_p can be done using the Mellin-Barnes summation trick similarly to Refs. [14,15]. The barrier A > (n-1)/2 is overcome exactly as in Ref. [15] (see Lemma. 6 and the discussion following there) from an analytic continuation of Gamma functions included in the $B_{k,m}$ factor, the introduction of a particular contour C_0 and a final requirement for the drift A + 1/2 > 0. Indeed, define the contour $C_0 = a + i\mathbb{R}$ with $a \in]0, \min(2A + 1, 1)[$, then denoting the summand of Eq. (45) by the function $f(m_p)$, we have

$$\sum_{m\geqslant 1} (-\varsigma)^m f(m) = -\int_{C_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \varsigma^w \frac{\pi}{\sin \pi w} f(w) = -\int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathrm{d}r \frac{\varsigma}{\varsigma + e^{-r}} \int_{C_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} f(w) e^{-wr}. \tag{46}$$

For each m_p we therefore introduce two variables r_p and w_p and we redefine the reduced variables X_{2p} and X_{2p-1} under the minimal replacement $m_p \to w_p$ imposed by the Mellin-Barnes formula. This leads to the following rewriting of the partition sum at fixed number of strings (see section 5 in [27] for similar manipulations)

$$Z(n_{s},\varsigma) = (-1)^{n_{s}} \prod_{p=1}^{n_{s}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} dr_{p} \frac{\varsigma}{\varsigma + e^{-r_{p}}} \iint_{C_{0}^{2}} \frac{dX_{2p-1}}{4i\pi} \frac{dX_{2p}}{4i\pi} \frac{\sin(\frac{\pi}{2}(X_{2p} - X_{2p-1}))}{2\pi}$$

$$\times \Gamma(X_{2p-1})\Gamma(X_{2p}) \frac{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} - \frac{X_{2p}}{2})}{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{X_{2p}}{2})} \frac{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} - \frac{X_{2p-1}}{2})}{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{X_{2p-1}}{2})}$$

$$\times e^{-(X_{2p-1} + X_{2p})\frac{r_{p}}{2} + t(\frac{X_{2p-1}^{3} + X_{2p}^{3}}{24} + \frac{X_{2p}^{3}}{24})} \Pr_{2n_{s} \times 2n_{s}} \left[\frac{X_{i} - X_{j}}{X_{i} + X_{j}} \right].$$

$$(47)$$

Remark 3.2. Note that the contour C_0 passes to the left of the pole of the Gamma function at X = 2A + 1.



We observe that the integrals are almost separable in X_{2p} and X_{2p-1} except for the sine function which couples them. By anti-symmetrization and similarly to Ref. [27] section 5, we can proceed to the replacement

$$\sin(\frac{\pi}{2}(X_{2p} - X_{2p-1})) \to 2\sin(\frac{\pi}{2}X_{2p})\cos(\frac{\pi}{2}X_{2p-1}). \tag{48}$$

The last manipulations consist in rescaling all variables X by a factor 2 and replacing the contours of integration by $C = \frac{a}{2} + i\mathbb{R}$. Hence we have

$$Z(n_{s},\varsigma) = (-1)^{n_{s}} \prod_{p=1}^{n_{s}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} dr_{p} \frac{\varsigma}{\varsigma + e^{-r_{p}}} \iint_{C^{2}} \frac{dX_{2p-1}}{2i\pi} \frac{dX_{2p}}{2i\pi} \frac{\sin(\pi X_{2p})\cos(\pi X_{2p-1})}{\pi}$$

$$\times \Gamma(2X_{2p-1})\Gamma(2X_{2p}) \frac{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} - X_{2p})}{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} + X_{2p})} \frac{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} - X_{2p-1})}{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} + X_{2p-1})}$$

$$\times e^{-(X_{2p-1} + X_{2p})r_{p} + t(\frac{X_{2p-1}^{3}}{3} + \frac{X_{2p}^{3}}{3})} \Pr_{2n_{s} \times 2n_{s}} \left[\frac{X_{i} - X_{j}}{X_{i} + X_{j}} \right].$$

$$(49)$$

There are a few last steps before we introduce the Fredholm Pfaffian. First define the functions

$$\phi_{2p}(X) = \frac{\sin(\pi X)}{\pi} \Gamma(2X) \frac{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} - X)}{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} + X)} e^{-r_p X + t \frac{X^3}{3}},$$

$$\phi_{2p-1}(X) = \cos(\pi X) \Gamma(2X) \frac{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} - X)}{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} + X)} e^{-r_p X + t \frac{X^3}{3}}.$$
(50)

Using a known property of Pfaffians (see De Bruijn [72]), we can rewrite the partition sum at fixed number of strings itself as a Pfaffian, i.e. we use that

$$\prod_{\ell=1}^{2n_s} \int_C \frac{\mathrm{d}X_\ell}{2i\pi} \Phi_\ell(X_\ell) \Pr_{2n_s \times 2n_s} \left[\frac{X_i - X_j}{X_i + X_j} \right] = \Pr_{2n_s \times 2n_s} \left[\iint_{C^2} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \Phi_i(w) \Phi_j(z) \frac{w - z}{w + z} \right]. \tag{51}$$

This leads to the definition of a $2n_s \times 2n_s$ matrix M such that

$$M_{ij} = \iint_{C^2} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \Phi_i(w) \Phi_j(z) \frac{w-z}{w+z}.$$
 (52)

Since a variable r_p will be shared between four elements of this matrix, it is more convenient to view M as composed of 2×2 blocks which we denote K, whose elements are presented in Eqs. (7) (for visualization see formula (146)). Finally, the string-replicated partition function is given by an infinite series of Pfaffians

$$g(\zeta) = 1 + \sum_{n_s=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{n_s}}{n_s!} \prod_{p=1}^{n_s} \int_{\mathbb{R}} dr_p \frac{\zeta}{\zeta + e^{-r_p}} \Pr_{n_s \times n_s} \left[K(r_k, r_\ell) \right].$$
 (53)

This series admits a closed form in terms of a Fredholm Pfaffian, which is our main result for the generating function at finite time together with the explicit expression of the kernel given in Eqs. (7)

$$g(\varsigma) = \mathbb{E}_{KPZ} \left[\exp(-\varsigma e^{H(t)}) \right] = Pf(J - \sigma_{\varsigma} K)_{\mathbb{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R})}.$$
 (54)

The function σ_{ς} is given by $\sigma_{\varsigma}(r) = \frac{\varsigma}{\varsigma + e^{-r}}$ and the 2×2 kernel J is given by $J(r,r') = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \mathbb{1}_{r=r'}$. For the precise definition and properties of Fredholm Pfaffians see Section 8 in [73], as well as e.g. Section 2.2. in [37], Appendix B in [74] and Appendix G in [12,13].



3.4 An equivalent kernel

For the antisymmetrization, we used the trigonometric decomposition

$$\sin(\pi(X_{2p} - X_{2p-1})) = \sin(\pi X_{2p})\cos(\pi X_{2p-1}) - \cos(\pi X_{2p})\sin(\pi X_{2p-1}). \tag{55}$$

The decomposition can be made more general, and for later purpose, for any real α , we decompose the sine function as

$$\sin(\pi(X_{2p} - X_{2p-1})) = \sin(\pi(X_{2p} - \alpha))\cos(\pi(X_{2p-1} - \alpha)) - \cos(\pi(X_{2p} - \alpha))\sin(\pi(X_{2p-1} - \alpha)).$$
(56)

For the rest of the paper we will call this the α -decomposition. To study the limit $A \to +\infty$, we will use $\alpha = 0$ and for the limit $A \to -\frac{1}{2}$, we will use $\alpha = A + \frac{1}{2}$. In particular, from the same symmetrization argument than above, the partition function for n_s strings reads, using the α -decomposition:

$$Z(n_{s},\varsigma) = (-1)^{n_{s}} \prod_{p=1}^{n_{s}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} dr_{p} \frac{\varsigma}{\varsigma + e^{-r_{p}}} \iint_{C^{2}} \frac{dX_{2p-1}}{2i\pi} \frac{dX_{2p}}{2i\pi} \frac{\sin(\pi(X_{2p} - \alpha))\cos(\pi(X_{2p-1} - \alpha))}{\pi}$$

$$\times \Gamma(2X_{2p-1})\Gamma(2X_{2p}) \frac{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} - X_{2p})}{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} + X_{2p})} \frac{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} - X_{2p-1})}{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} + X_{2p-1})}$$

$$\times e^{-(X_{2p-1} + X_{2p})r_{p} + t(\frac{X_{2p-1}^{3}}{3} + \frac{X_{2p}^{3}}{3})} \Pr_{2n_{s} \times 2n_{s}} \left[\frac{X_{i} - X_{j}}{X_{i} + X_{j}} \right].$$
(57)

This leads to an α -extension of our functions ϕ , which in the special case $\alpha = A + \frac{1}{2}$ read

$$\phi_{2p}(X) = \frac{\sin(\pi(X - (A + \frac{1}{2})))}{\pi} \Gamma(2X) \frac{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} - X)}{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} + X)} e^{-r_p X + t \frac{X^3}{3}},$$

$$\phi_{2p-1}(X) = \cos(\pi(X - (A + \frac{1}{2}))\Gamma(2X) \frac{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} - X)}{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} + X)} e^{-r_p X + t \frac{X^3}{3}}.$$
(58)

We see that this choice $\alpha = A + \frac{1}{2}$ can be interesting since it suppresses the pole at $X = A + \frac{1}{2}$ in the function ϕ_{2p} , a property that we will use below. At the end we obtain a the same Fredholm Pfaffian expression for the generating function, with the minimal replacement in the kernel (7)

$$\sin(\pi X) \to \sin(\pi (X - (A + \frac{1}{2}))),$$

$$\cos(\pi X) \to \cos(\pi (X - (A + \frac{1}{2}))).$$
(59)

We emphasize that all the kernels parametrized by α yield the same Fredholm Pfaffian by construction.



4 Large time limit of the Fredholm Pfaffian and the distribution of the KPZ height

We will now study the large time limit of our kernel. To understand the scaling required at large time, let us recall the expression of the partition sum at fixed number of strings

$$Z(n_{s},\varsigma) = (-1)^{n_{s}} \prod_{p=1}^{n_{s}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} dr_{p} \frac{\varsigma}{\varsigma + e^{-r_{p}}} \iint_{C^{2}} \frac{dX_{2p-1}}{2i\pi} \frac{dX_{2p}}{2i\pi} \frac{\sin(\pi X_{2p})\cos(\pi X_{2p-1})}{\pi}$$

$$\times \Gamma(2X_{2p-1})\Gamma(2X_{2p}) \frac{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} - X_{2p})}{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} + X_{2p})} \frac{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} - X_{2p-1})}{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} + X_{2p-1})}$$

$$\times e^{-(X_{2p-1} + X_{2p})r_{p} + t(\frac{X_{2p-1}^{3}}{3} + \frac{X_{2p}^{3}}{3})} \Pr_{2n_{s} \times 2n_{s}} \left[\frac{X_{i} - X_{j}}{X_{i} + X_{j}} \right].$$

$$(60)$$

At large time, we want to eliminate the time factor in the exponential, hence we perform the change of variables

$$X = t^{-1/3}\tilde{X}, \qquad r = t^{1/3}\tilde{r}, \qquad A + \frac{1}{2} = \epsilon t^{-1/3}.$$
 (61)

In the large time limit, the Gamma, cosine and sine functions simplify using that for small positive argument

$$\Gamma(x) \simeq \frac{1}{x}, \quad \cos(x) \simeq 1, \quad \sin(x) \simeq x.$$
 (62)

Under these simplifications, the partition sum at fixed number of strings reads in the limit $t \to +\infty$ (dropping all tildes)

$$Z(n_{s},\varsigma) = (-1)^{n_{s}} \prod_{p=1}^{n_{s}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} dr_{p} \frac{\varsigma}{\varsigma + e^{-t^{1/3}r_{p}}} \iint_{C^{2}} \frac{dX_{2p-1}}{2i\pi} \frac{dX_{2p}}{2i\pi} \frac{1}{4X_{2p-1}} \frac{\epsilon + X_{2p}}{\epsilon - X_{2p}} \frac{\epsilon + X_{2p-1}}{\epsilon - X_{2p-1}} \times e^{-(X_{2p-1} + X_{2p})r_{p} + \frac{X_{2p-1}^{3}}{3} + \frac{X_{2p}^{3}}{3}} \Pr_{2n_{s} \times 2n_{s}} \left[\frac{X_{i} - X_{j}}{X_{i} + X_{j}} \right].$$

$$(63)$$

The contours C have now to be understood as $C = \tilde{a} + i\mathbb{R}$, where $\tilde{a} \in]0, \epsilon[$. We emphasize that the contours all lie at the left of the poles at $X = \epsilon$. Now that the rescaling at large time is well understood, we can reconstruct the matrix valued kernel K^{ϵ} which reads in this limit

$$K_{11}^{\epsilon}(r,r') = \frac{1}{4} \iint_{C^{2}} \frac{dw}{2i\pi} \frac{dz}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{1}{wz} \frac{\epsilon+w}{\epsilon-w} \frac{\epsilon+z}{\epsilon-z} e^{-rw-r'z+\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3}},$$

$$K_{22}^{\epsilon}(r,r') = \frac{1}{4} \iint_{C^{2}} \frac{dw}{2i\pi} \frac{dz}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{\epsilon+w}{\epsilon-w} \frac{\epsilon+z}{\epsilon-z} e^{-rw-r'z+\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3}},$$

$$K_{12}^{\epsilon}(r,r') = \frac{1}{4} \iint_{C^{2}} \frac{dw}{2i\pi} \frac{dz}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{1}{w} \frac{\epsilon+w}{\epsilon-w} \frac{\epsilon+z}{\epsilon-z} e^{-rw-r'z+\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3}}.$$
(64)

Remark 4.1. The kernel K^{ϵ} has a particular structure, indeed its elements are related through derivative identities: $K_{22}^{\epsilon}(r,r') = \partial_r \partial_{r'} K_{11}^{\epsilon}(r,r')$, $K_{12}^{\epsilon}(r,r') = -\partial_r K_{11}^{\epsilon}(r,r')$ and $K_{22}^{\epsilon}(r,r') = -\partial_r K_{12}^{\epsilon}(r,r')$.

Remark 4.2. The kernel K^{ϵ} can be obtained equivalently from the kernel (7) by the same rescaling of $r_p = t^{1/3} \tilde{r}_p$ and the changes $(w,z) \rightarrow t^{-1/3}(w,z)$ in the integrals.



One has $K_{11}(t^{1/3}\tilde{r},t^{1/3}\tilde{r}') = K_{11}^{\epsilon}(\tilde{r},\tilde{r}'), \quad K_{22}(t^{1/3}\tilde{r},t^{1/3}\tilde{r}') = t^{-2/3}K_{22}^{\epsilon}(\tilde{r},\tilde{r}'), \quad K_{12}(t^{1/3}\tilde{r},t^{1/3}\tilde{r}') = t^{-1/3}K_{12}^{\epsilon}(\tilde{r},\tilde{r}').$ This produces a factor $t^{-n_s/3}$ from the Pfaffian, compensating for the change of measure $\prod_p dr_p = t^{n_s/3} \prod_p d\tilde{r}_p$.

Finally, choosing the variable ς as $\varsigma = e^{-st^{1/3}}$, at large time we have

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \sigma_{\varsigma}(rt^{1/3}) = \Theta(r-s),\tag{65}$$

where Θ is the Theta Heaviside function. The Fredholm Pfaffian formula for the generating function then becomes in the limit

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} g(\varsigma = e^{-st^{1/3}}) = \operatorname{Pf}(J - K^{\epsilon})_{\mathbb{L}^2([s, +\infty[)]}.$$
(66)

On the other hand, at large time, the Laplace transform of the distribution of the exponential of the KPZ height converges towards the cumulative probability of the height, i.e.

$$\mathbb{E}_{KPZ} \Big[\exp(-\varsigma e^{H(t)}) \Big] = \mathbb{E}_{KPZ} \Big[\exp(-e^{H(t)-st^{1/3}}) \Big]$$

$$\simeq_{t \to +\infty} \mathbb{E}_{KPZ} \Big[\Theta(st^{1/3} - H(t)) \Big]$$

$$\simeq_{t \to +\infty} \mathbb{P}(\frac{H(t)}{t^{1/3}} \leq s),$$
(67)

where Θ is the Theta Heaviside function. From this, we obtain the CDF of the height distribution in the large time limit as a Fredholm Pfaffian

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \mathbb{P}\left(\frac{H(t)}{t^{1/3}} \le s\right) = \operatorname{Pf}(J - K^{\epsilon})_{\mathbb{L}^{2}([s, +\infty[)} := F^{(\epsilon)}(s))$$
(68)

in terms of the matrix kernel given in (64), also called the transition kernel, as it describes the critical region around the transition. Anticipating a bit, it should describe the crossover from GSE/GOE/Gaussian discussed in the introduction, expected from universality arguments. Although we will indeed show most of it, our formula for the kernel is, however, limited at this stage to $\epsilon > 0$.

4.1 Large ϵ behavior of the matrix valued kernel and convergence to the GSE-TW distribution

Performing the large time limit at any fixed A>-1/2 corresponds to the previous calculation with $\epsilon=+\infty$. Hence we now investigate the large ϵ behavior of the kernel at large time. As the contours of kernel K^ϵ are parallel to the imaginary axis and cross the real axis between 0 and ϵ , we can push the limit $\epsilon\to\infty$ without any ambiguity. All rational functions involving the parameter ϵ in the large time limit of the kernel K^ϵ in Eq. (64) converge to the value -1. Hence in this limit we obtain a kernel which we denote K^∞ , and it reads

$$K_{11}^{\infty}(r,r') = \frac{1}{4} \iint_{C^{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{1}{wz} e^{-rw-r'z+\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3}},$$

$$K_{22}^{\infty}(r,r') = \frac{1}{4} \iint_{C^{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} e^{-rw-r'z+\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3}},$$

$$K_{12}^{\infty}(r,r') = \frac{1}{4} \iint_{C^{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{1}{w} e^{-rw-r'z+\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3}}.$$

$$(69)$$

This is precisely the kernel associated to the Gaussian Symplectic Ensemble (GSE) of random matrices as given in Lemma 2.7. of Ref. [37]. Hence this shows that the distribution of the



height at x=0 converges at large time for boundary conditions such that $\epsilon \to \infty$ (e.g. for any fixed A>-1/2) to the GSE Tracy-Widom distribution

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \mathbb{P}\left(\frac{h(0,t) + \frac{t}{12}}{t^{1/3}} \le s\right) = F_4(s). \tag{70}$$

4.2 Alternative expression for the large-time transition matrix-valued kernel

In this section we will present an equivalent form of the large time transition kernel for the KPZ equation, better suited to study general ϵ . In particular, we will compare it with the transition kernel obtained in Ref. [37] from the solution of discrete models, i.e. last passage percolation and facilitated TASEP.

To study the large time behavior for general ϵ , i.e. the critical region, it is useful to return to the α -decomposition of Section 3.4. Let us choose, as discussed there, $\alpha = A + \frac{1}{2}$. Inserting the replacement (59) into the finite time kernel (7) and repeating the same steps one obtains a large time kernel equivalent to (64) (which, for simplicity, we will also denote by K^{ϵ}). In that limit the replacement only amounts to multiply by $(w - \epsilon)(z - \epsilon)/(wz)$ the integrand in K^{ϵ}_{22} , and by $(z - \epsilon)/z$ the integrand in K^{ϵ}_{12} , leading to

$$K_{11}^{\epsilon}(r,r') = \frac{1}{4} \iint_{C^{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{1}{wz} \frac{\epsilon+w}{w-\epsilon} \frac{\epsilon+z}{z-\epsilon} e^{-rw-r'z+\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3}},$$

$$K_{22}^{\epsilon}(r,r') = \frac{1}{4} \iint_{C^{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{(z+\epsilon)(w+\epsilon)}{wz} e^{-rw-r'z+\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3}},$$

$$K_{12}^{\epsilon}(r,r') = \frac{1}{4} \iint_{C^{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{z+\epsilon}{wz} \frac{\epsilon+w}{w-\epsilon} e^{-rw-r'z+\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3}}.$$

$$(71)$$

As advertized above, this choice of $\alpha = A + \frac{1}{2}$ has decreased the number of poles for w or z equal to ϵ , which will be useful below.

We now slightly rewrite this kernel to make more apparent its asymptotic behavior for large arguments $r, r' \to +\infty$. For this purpose it is useful to move the contours of integration. The contour C crosses the real axis between 0 and ϵ . We now choose to move all the contours to the right of ϵ . This will pick some residues that we will evaluate. Doing so, and introducing a contour \hat{C} parallel to the imaginary axis and crossing the real axis at the right of ϵ , we find the decomposition

$$K_{11}^{\epsilon}(r,r') = \frac{1}{4} \iint_{\hat{C}^{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{1}{wz} \frac{\epsilon+w}{w-\epsilon} \frac{\epsilon+z}{z-\epsilon} e^{-rw-r'z+\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3}} + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\hat{C}} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi z} e^{\frac{z^{3}+\epsilon^{3}}{3}} \left[e^{-r'z-r\epsilon} - e^{-rz-r'\epsilon} \right]$$

$$K_{22}^{\epsilon}(r,r') = \frac{1}{4} \iint_{\hat{C}^{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{(z+\epsilon)(w+\epsilon)}{wz} e^{-rw-r'z+\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3}}$$

$$K_{12}^{\epsilon}(r,r') = \frac{1}{4} \iint_{\hat{C}^{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{z+\epsilon}{wz} \frac{\epsilon+w}{w-\epsilon} e^{-rw-r'z+\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3}} + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\hat{C}} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{z-\epsilon}{z} e^{-r'z-r\epsilon+\frac{z^{3}+\epsilon^{3}}{3}}.$$

$$(72)$$

This form is useful to evaluate the transitional CDF $F^{(\epsilon)}(s)$ at large s, i.e. the Fredholm Pfaffian in a trace expansion at large s. The Fredholm Pfaffian involves integrals of the variables r, r'



on $[s, +\infty[$. Its behavior for large s is thus controlled by the region of large r, r' > s. In that region, each term in (72) can be evaluated by saddle point: indeed the new contour \hat{C} can be deformed to include the saddle point. Hence the asymptotics is of the standard Airy type, i.e. each cubic exponential in the integrand leads to a decay $\sim \exp(-\frac{2}{3}s^{3/2})$ and the total decay of each term is thus of the form $\sim \exp(-\frac{2}{3}ps^{3/2})$, where the integer p=1,2 is the number of cubic exponentials (akin to the number of Airy functions). To be systematic one thus labels the terms in (72) in terms of their homogeneity in cubic exponentials (not counting the terms in ϵ^3). We introduce the notation $K^{(n)}$ when the element K comprises n cubic exponentials and hence we write the kernel as

$$K_{11}^{\epsilon} = K_{11}^{\epsilon,(2)} + K_{11}^{\epsilon,(1)},$$

$$K_{22}^{\epsilon} = K_{22}^{\epsilon,(2)},$$

$$K_{12}^{\epsilon} = K_{12}^{\epsilon,(2)} + K_{12}^{\epsilon,(1)}.$$
(73)

Remark 4.3. $K_{12}^{\epsilon,(1)}$ is a rank 1 operator.

An important property of our result is that our transition kernel K^{ϵ} in (72) is equivalent to the cross-over kernel³ K_{cross} in Ref. [37] Definition 2.9, i.e. we conjecture that for $\epsilon > 0$

$$Pf(J - K^{\epsilon})_{\mathbb{L}^{2}(\lceil s, +\infty \lceil)} = Pf(J - K_{cross})_{\mathbb{L}^{2}(\lceil s, +\infty \lceil)}.$$
(74)

Let us first recall that from Ref. [37] Definition 2.9, the cross-over kernel K_{cross} is the sum of two kernels I and R, the latter having a single non-zero component R_{22} . In our notations and contour conventions, these kernels read

$$I_{11}(r,r') = \int \int_{C^{2}} \frac{dz}{2i\pi} \frac{dw}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{w+\epsilon}{w} \frac{z+\epsilon}{z} e^{-r'z-rw+\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3}},$$

$$I_{12}(r,r') = \frac{1}{2} \int \int_{C^{2}} \frac{dz}{2i\pi} \frac{dw}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{w+\epsilon}{w} \frac{1}{\epsilon-z} e^{-r'z-rw+\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3}},$$

$$I_{22}(r,r') = \frac{1}{4} \int \int_{\hat{C}^{2}} \frac{dz}{2i\pi} \frac{dw}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{1}{\epsilon-z} \frac{1}{\epsilon-w} e^{-r'z-rw+\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3}},$$

$$I_{21}(r,r') = -I_{12}(r',r),$$

$$R_{22}(r,r') = -\frac{1}{4} \int_{\hat{C}} \frac{dz}{2i\pi} \frac{e^{\frac{z^{3}+\epsilon^{3}}{3}-rz-r'\epsilon}}{\epsilon+z} + \frac{1}{4} \int_{\hat{C}} \frac{dz}{2i\pi} \frac{e^{\frac{z^{3}+\epsilon^{3}}{3}-r'z-r\epsilon}}{\epsilon+z} - \frac{1}{2} \int_{C} \frac{dz}{2i\pi} \frac{ze^{z(r'-r)}}{(\epsilon+z)(\epsilon-z)},$$

where we recall that the contour C is parallel to the imaginary axis and crosses the real axis between 0 and ϵ and that the contour \hat{C} is parallel to the imaginary axis and crosses the real axis at the right of ϵ .

Remark 4.4. With these definitions the above formula holds for $\epsilon > 0$. The kernel of Ref. [37] is also valid for $\epsilon < 0$, with the following changes. For $\epsilon < 0$, the contours of I_{11} are unchanged, for I_{12} the contour of z crosses the real axis at the left of ϵ , the contour of w crosses the real axis at the right of 0 such that w + z > 0. For I_{22} both contours of w and z cross the real axis at the right of 0. For R_{22} the contours cross the real axis between the left of $-\epsilon$ and the right of ϵ

 $^{^3}$ This kernel appeared previously in Refs. [75, 76] . We thank G. Barraquand for pointing these references to us.



It is important to note that for $\epsilon > 0$, the first two terms of R_{22} can be absorbed in I_{22} by changing the contour $\hat{C} \to C$ in I_{22} . Indeed the first two terms of R_{22} are nothing more than the residues of the poles of I_{22} at $w = \epsilon$ and $z = \epsilon$. Hence, in later uses, we will redefine for convenience R_{22} to be only its last term

$$R_{22}(r,r') = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{C} \frac{dz}{2i\pi} \frac{ze^{z(r'-r)}}{(\epsilon+z)(\epsilon-z)} = \frac{1}{4} \operatorname{sgn}(r'-r)e^{-|r-r'|\epsilon}$$
 (76)

and include the first two terms in I_{22} . Since only the sum $I_{22} + R_{22}$ matters this is immaterial.

Since it is already proved in Ref. [37] that in the large positive $\epsilon \to +\infty$ limit, their kernel is the GSE kernel, we see that in this limit it is equivalent to ours. For general $\epsilon > 0$ we have expanded the Fredholm Pfaffians on both sides of Eq. (74) in series of their traces, using the counting in cubic exponentials explained above. It is equivalent to expanding both predictions for the CDF for the height in the transition regimes at large s. We found perfect matching up to, and including, third order, i.e. $\exp(-2s^{3/2})$. Thus we have a strong case for the conjecture of the full equivalence of the Fredholm Pfaffians. A complete proof of this identity seems for the moment out of reach.

4.3 Small ϵ behavior of the matrix-valued kernel

In this Section, we will take the small ϵ limit of the two-dimensional kernel. Since the kernel K_{cross} converges to the Tracy-Widom GOE kernel as $\epsilon \to 0$, see Ref. [37], the limit of K^{ϵ} for $\epsilon \to 0$ will provide a new kernel for the Tracy-Widom GOE distribution in accordance to our conjecture in Eq. (74). The starting point is the expression of K^{ϵ} in Eq. (72) and we will show that the $\epsilon \to 0$ limit can be taken without any ambiguity within the different elements of the kernel.

Whenever there is an Airy term of the type $e^{-rz-r\epsilon-z^3/3}$, the $\epsilon\to 0$ limit is clear and we can set $\epsilon=0$ directly. In the case of the different projectors, where there is solely a term of the type $e^{-r\epsilon}$ in Eq. (72), the limit has to be investigated properly because of possible convergence issue when calculating the Fredholm Pfaffian which involves products of the elements of the matrix-valued kernel, see Eq. (146). Hence, with this remark and expressing the projectors in terms of Airy functions, we rewrite the kernel K^ϵ as

$$K_{11}^{\epsilon \to 0}(r, r') = \frac{1}{4} \iint_{\hat{C}^{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{w - z}{w + z} \frac{1}{wz} e^{-rw - r'z + \frac{w^{3} + z^{3}}{3}} + \frac{e^{-r\epsilon}}{2} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}\lambda \mathrm{Ai}(\lambda + r') - \frac{e^{-r'\epsilon}}{2} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}\lambda \mathrm{Ai}(\lambda + r)$$

$$K_{22}^{\epsilon \to 0}(r, r') = \frac{1}{4} \iint_{\hat{C}^{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{w - z}{w + z} e^{-rw - r'z + \frac{w^{3} + z^{3}}{3}} + \frac{e^{-r\epsilon}}{2} \mathrm{Ai}(r') - \frac{\epsilon e^{-r\epsilon}}{2} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}\lambda \mathrm{Ai}(\lambda + r').$$

$$K_{12}^{\epsilon \to 0}(r, r') = \frac{1}{4} \iint_{\hat{C}^{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{w - z}{w + z} \frac{1}{w} e^{-rw - r'z + \frac{w^{3} + z^{3}}{3}} + \frac{e^{-r\epsilon}}{2} \mathrm{Ai}(r') - \frac{\epsilon e^{-r\epsilon}}{2} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}\lambda \mathrm{Ai}(\lambda + r').$$

$$(77)$$

If one defines the following vectors

$$|u_{\epsilon}(r)\rangle = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{e^{-r\epsilon}}{2} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad |v_{\epsilon}(r')\rangle = \begin{pmatrix} \int_{0}^{+\infty} d\lambda \operatorname{Ai}(\lambda + r') \\ \operatorname{Ai}(r') - \epsilon \int_{0}^{+\infty} d\lambda \operatorname{Ai}(\lambda + r'), \end{pmatrix}$$
(78)



then the kernel $K^{\epsilon \to 0}$ admits the reduced representation

$$K^{\epsilon \to 0} = K^{\infty} + |u_{\epsilon}\rangle \langle v_{\epsilon}| - |v_{\epsilon}\rangle \langle u_{\epsilon}|, \tag{79}$$

where K^{∞} is the GSE kernel of Eq. (69). In order to treat the ϵ dependence in the term $|u_{\epsilon}\rangle\langle v_{\epsilon}| - |v_{\epsilon}\rangle\langle u_{\epsilon}|$, we treat it as a rank one perturbation to a Fredholm Pfaffian.

$$Pf(J - K^{\epsilon \to 0})_{\mathbb{L}^{2}([s, +\infty[)]} = Pf(J - K^{\infty} - |u_{\epsilon}\rangle\langle v_{\epsilon}| + |v_{\epsilon}\rangle\langle u_{\epsilon}|)_{\mathbb{L}^{2}([s, +\infty[)]}.$$
(80)

By a generalization of the matrix determinant lemma and the Sherman Morrison formula for Fredholm determinants⁴, we have

$$Pf(J - K^{\infty} - |u_{\epsilon}\rangle \langle v_{\epsilon}| + |v_{\epsilon}\rangle \langle u_{\epsilon}|) = Pf(J - K^{\infty}) \left[1 - \langle u_{\epsilon}| (I + JK^{\infty})^{-1} J |v_{\epsilon}\rangle\right]. \tag{81}$$

The remaining goal is to show that the $\epsilon \to 0$ limit can be taken in the inner product in Eq. (81). It is possible to expand the resolvant $(I+JK^{\infty})^{-1}$, we will show on the lowest order term of the expansion that the $\epsilon \to 0$ limit can be taken easily and we will conjecture the same conclusion for higher order terms.

$$\langle u_{\epsilon}|J|v_{\epsilon}\rangle - \langle u_{0}|J|v_{0}\rangle = \frac{1}{2} \int_{s}^{+\infty} dr \left[(e^{-r\epsilon} - 1)Ai(r) - \epsilon e^{-r\epsilon} \int_{0}^{+\infty} d\lambda Ai(\lambda + r) \right]$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{+\infty} dr (e^{-s\epsilon - r\epsilon} - 2 + e^{-r\epsilon})Ai(r + s)$$

$$= \underset{\epsilon \to 0}{\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{O}(\epsilon).$$
(82)

From the first to the second line, we proceeded to the change of variable $(r, \lambda) \to (u = r + \lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+, v = r - \lambda \in [-u, u])$ and relabeled $u \to r$.

Our conclusion is that we can simply take the $\epsilon \to 0$ limit from the beginning in the vectors $|u_{\epsilon}\rangle$ and $|v_{\epsilon}\rangle$ so that the final resulting infinite-time kernel for A=-1/2 reads

$$\mathsf{K}_{11}^{0}(r,r') = \frac{1}{4} \iint_{\hat{C}^{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{1}{wz} e^{-rw-r'z+\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3}} \\
+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}\lambda \mathrm{Ai}(\lambda+r') - \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}\lambda \mathrm{Ai}(\lambda+r) \\
\mathsf{K}_{22}^{0}(r,r') = \frac{1}{4} \iint_{\hat{C}^{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} e^{-rw-r'z+\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3}} \\
\mathsf{K}_{12}^{0}(r,r') = \frac{1}{4} \iint_{\hat{C}^{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{1}{w} e^{-rw-r'z+\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3}} + \frac{1}{2} \mathrm{Ai}(r'). \tag{83}$$

Remark 4.5. Note that in the kernel K^0 , the derivative relation between its elements is conserved: $K_{22}^0(r,r') = \partial_r \partial_{r'} K_{11}^0(r,r')$, $K_{12}^0(r,r') = -\partial_{r'} K_{11}^0(r,r')$ and $K_{22}^0(r,r') = -\partial_r K_{12}^0(r,r')$.

According to Ref. [37] and our conjecture in Eq. (74), the Fredholm Pfaffian of the kernel K^0 describes the Tracy-Widom GOE distribution. To the best of our knowledge, this kernel K^0 has not appeared before in the literature and therefore provides an alternative expression for the Tracy-Widom GOE distribution. Since it enjoys the same simple derivative structure as the GSE kernel, see Remark 4.5 above, without involving any sign function, contrary to K_{cross} , we hope this kernel will find further applications.

⁴We obtain this generalization by considering the identity $Pf(J-K)^2 = Det(I+JK)$ and treat the term $J(|u_{\epsilon}\rangle\langle v_{\epsilon}|-|v_{\epsilon}\rangle\langle u_{\epsilon}|)$ as a rank two perturbation.



4.4 Solution for finite time at A = -1/2

Having understood the $\epsilon \to 0$ limit on the infinite time matrix-valued kernel, we extend the calculation to study the critical case A = -1/2 at finite time. To this aim, we first rewrite the kernel Eq. (7) using the α -prescription with $\alpha = A + \frac{1}{2}$.

$$K_{11}(r,r') = \iint_{C^{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{\Gamma(A+\frac{1}{2}-w)}{\Gamma(A+\frac{1}{2}+w)} \frac{\Gamma(A+\frac{1}{2}-z)}{\Gamma(A+\frac{1}{2}+z)} \times \Gamma(2w)\Gamma(2z)\cos(\pi(w-A-\frac{1}{2}))\cos(\pi(z-A-\frac{1}{2}))e^{-rw-r'z+t}\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3}},$$

$$K_{22}(r,r') = \iint_{C^{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{\Gamma(A+\frac{1}{2}-w)}{\Gamma(A+\frac{1}{2}+w)} \frac{\Gamma(A+\frac{1}{2}-z)}{\Gamma(A+\frac{1}{2}+z)} \times \Gamma(2w)\Gamma(2z) \frac{\sin(\pi(w-A-\frac{1}{2}))}{\pi} \frac{\sin(\pi(z-A-\frac{1}{2}))}{\pi} e^{-rw-r'z+t}\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3}},$$

$$K_{12}(r,r') = \iint_{C^{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{\Gamma(A+\frac{1}{2}-w)}{\Gamma(A+\frac{1}{2}+w)} \frac{\Gamma(A+\frac{1}{2}-z)}{\Gamma(A+\frac{1}{2}+z)} \times \Gamma(2w)\Gamma(2z)\cos(\pi(w-A-\frac{1}{2})) \frac{\sin(\pi(z-A-\frac{1}{2}))}{\pi} e^{-rw-r'z+t}\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3}},$$

$$K_{21}(r,r') = -K_{12}(r',r).$$

We recall that the contours C are parallel to the imaginary axis and cross the real axis between 0 and $A + \frac{1}{2}$. Let us now push this contour to the right of $A + \frac{1}{2}$ by picking the related pole and call the new contour \hat{C} . We will directly write the result at A = -1/2 without further details to conclude this Section on the matrix-valued kernel.

$$K_{11}(r,r') = \iint_{\hat{C}^{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{w+z} \frac{w-z}{\Gamma(w)} \frac{\Gamma(-z)}{\Gamma(z)} \Gamma(2w) \Gamma(2z) \cos(\pi w) \cos(\pi z) e^{-rw-r'z+t} \frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3}$$

$$+ \iint_{\hat{C}} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{\Gamma(1-z)}{\Gamma(1+z)} \Gamma(2z) \cos(\pi z) e^{t\frac{z^{3}}{3}} \left[e^{-r'z} - e^{-rz} \right],$$

$$K_{22}(r,r') = \iint_{\hat{C}^{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{w+z} \frac{w-z}{\Gamma(w)} \frac{\Gamma(-z)}{\Gamma(w)} \Gamma(2w) \Gamma(2z) \frac{\sin(\pi w)}{\pi} \frac{\sin(\pi z)}{\pi} e^{-rw-r'z+t} \frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3},$$

$$K_{12}(r,r') = \iint_{\hat{C}^{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{w+z} \frac{w-z}{\Gamma(w)} \frac{\Gamma(-z)}{\Gamma(w)} \Gamma(2w) \Gamma(2z) \cos(\pi w) \frac{\sin(\pi z)}{\pi} e^{-rw-r'z+t} \frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3}$$

$$+ \iint_{\hat{C}} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{\Gamma(1-z)}{\Gamma(1+z)} \Gamma(2z) \frac{\sin(\pi z)}{\pi} e^{-r'z+t} \frac{z^{3}}{3},$$

$$K_{21}(r,r') = -K_{12}(r',r). \tag{85}$$

This final kernel is the one that describes the critical case A = -1/2 at all times.

It was shown in Ref. [27] that Fredholm Pfaffians with matrix-valued kernel of Schur type can also be expressed as Fredholm determinants with a scalar kernel. We now dedicate the rest of this work to the understanding of the structure of the scalar-valued kernel.



5 From a matrix valued kernel to a scalar kernel

5.1 Solution for the KPZ generating function at all times for generic *A* in terms of a scalar kernel

The general kernel we have obtained in Eq. (7) has a particular structure in the form of a Schur Pfaffian. With this structure, the kernel verifies the hypothesis of Proposition B.2 of [27]. This proposition states that we can transform the Fredholm Pfaffian of Eq. (54) which involves a matrix valued kernel, into a Fredholm determinant of a scalar kernel. To proceed, let us first define the functions

$$f_{\text{odd}}(r) = \int_{C} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} - w)}{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} + w)} \Gamma(2w) \cos(\pi w) e^{-rw + t \frac{w^{3}}{3}}$$

$$f_{\text{even}}(r) = \int_{C} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} - z)}{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} + z)} \Gamma(2z) \frac{\sin(\pi z)}{\pi} e^{-rz + t \frac{z^{3}}{3}},$$
(86)

and the kernel $\bar{K}_{t,\varsigma}$ such that for all $(x,y) \in \mathbb{R}^2_+$

$$\bar{K}_{t,\varsigma}(x,y) = 2\partial_{x} \int_{\mathbb{R}} dr \frac{\varsigma}{\varsigma + e^{-r}} [f_{\text{even}}(r+x) f_{\text{odd}}(r+y) - f_{\text{odd}}(r+x) f_{\text{even}}(r+y)]
= 2\partial_{x} \int_{\mathbb{R}} dr \frac{\varsigma}{\varsigma + e^{-r}} \iint_{C^{2}} \frac{dw dz}{(2i\pi)^{2}} \frac{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} - w)}{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} + w)} \frac{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} - z)}{\Gamma(A + \frac{1}{2} + z)}
\times \Gamma(2w) \Gamma(2z) \frac{\sin(\pi(z - w))}{\pi} e^{-xz - yw - rw - rz + t \frac{w^{3} + z^{3}}{3}}.$$
(87)

We recall that in this formula the contours C are parallel to the imaginary axis and cross the real axis between 0 and $A + \frac{1}{2}$.

Then, the Laplace transform of the one-point distribution of the exponential of the KPZ height admits the following representation:

$$g(\varsigma) = \mathbb{E}_{KPZ} \left[\exp(-\varsigma e^{H(t)}) \right] = Pf(J - \sigma_{\varsigma} K)_{\mathbb{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R})} = \sqrt{\text{Det}(I - \bar{K}_{t,\varsigma})_{\mathbb{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}}.$$
(88)

Remark 5.1. In the case of the scalar kernel, there is no α -decomposition as any α prescription in the functions f_{odd} and f_{even} will eventually lead to the same kernel (87).

Large time limit. To obtain the large time limit of (88) one performs the same rescaling as in Sec. 4, namely one chooses $\varsigma = e^{-t^{1/3}s}$ and one rescales $(w,z) \to t^{-1/3}(w,z)$, $r \to t^{1/3}r$. The Fermi factor σ_{ς} produces a Heaviside function $\Theta(r-s)$ and then (88) becomes (11), in terms of the large time scalar kernel \bar{K} given in Eq. (12).

5.2 Large ϵ behavior of the scalar kernel and convergence to the GSE

We recall that at large time the critical cross-over parameter is given by $\epsilon = (A + \frac{1}{2})t^{1/3}$. For large ϵ , we use the exact same procedure as in Section 4.1 and we obtain from Eq. (12) the kernel

$$\bar{K}^{\infty}(x,y) = \frac{1}{2} \iint_{C^2} \frac{\mathrm{d}w \mathrm{d}z}{(2i\pi)^2} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{1}{w} e^{-xz-yw+\frac{w^3+z^3}{3}} := K^{\mathrm{GLD}}(x,y), \tag{89}$$



which was proved to be the one-dimensional GSE kernel in Refs. [24, 27]. Performing the integrals one can equivalently write it as

$$K^{\text{GLD}}(x,y) = K_{\text{Ai}}(x,y) - \frac{1}{2}\text{Ai}(x) \int_{0}^{+\infty} d\lambda \text{Ai}(y+\lambda), \tag{90}$$

where K_{Ai} is the standard Airy kernel. This is the form in which it was obtained in [24] for the case $A = +\infty$. Here we see that the GSE-TW holds for any fixed A > -1/2 at large time, consistent with the conclusion obtained above from the matrix valued kernel.

5.3 Small ϵ limit of the scalar kernel and convergence to the GOE

To investigate the small ϵ behavior of the scalar kernel, one proceeds as in the matrix case by moving the contours C of the scalar kernel of Eq. (12) to \hat{C} which is to the right of ϵ , and collecting all residues along the way. Doing so, we rewrite the scalar kernel as

$$\bar{K}(x,y) = \frac{1}{2} \iint_{\hat{C}^2} \frac{\mathrm{d}w \mathrm{d}z}{(2i\pi)^2} \frac{\epsilon + w}{\epsilon - w} \frac{\epsilon + z}{\epsilon - z} \frac{w - z}{w + z} \frac{1}{w} e^{-xz - yw + \frac{w^3 + z^3}{3}} \\
- \epsilon e^{-\epsilon x + \frac{\epsilon^3}{3}} \int_0^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}\lambda \mathrm{Ai}(y + \lambda) + \mathrm{Ai}(x) e^{-\epsilon y + \frac{\epsilon^3}{3}}.$$
(91)

The new contour \hat{C} is now well suited for the small ϵ limit in the first term. However one cannot simply set $\epsilon = 0$ in the last two terms. Indeed the operator product of the last term with the second one leads to a divergent integral. We now study this delicate limit in details.

To further study the small ϵ limit, one first conjugates the kernel on the left by the multiplication of $e^{-\epsilon x}$ and on the right by the multiplication of $e^{\epsilon y}$. This operation leaves the associated Fredholm determinant unchanged. The new kernel obtained by this manipulation is the following

$$\mathsf{K}(x,y) = \frac{1}{2} \iint_{\hat{C}^2} \frac{\mathrm{d}w\mathrm{d}z}{(2i\pi)^2} \frac{\epsilon + w}{\epsilon - w} \frac{\epsilon + z}{\epsilon - w} \frac{w - z}{w + z} \frac{1}{w} e^{-xz - yw + \epsilon y - \epsilon x + \frac{w^3 + z^3}{3}} - \epsilon e^{-2\epsilon x + \epsilon y + \frac{\epsilon^3}{3}} \int_0^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}\lambda \mathrm{Ai}(y + \lambda) + \mathrm{Ai}(x) e^{-\epsilon x + \frac{\epsilon^3}{3}}.$$
(92)

We split this kernel into three components and we will analyze them separately.

$$\mathsf{K}_{0}(x,y) = \frac{1}{2} \iint_{\hat{C}^{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w\mathrm{d}z}{(2i\pi)^{2}} \frac{\epsilon + w}{\epsilon - w} \frac{\epsilon + z}{\epsilon - z} \frac{w - z}{w + z} \frac{1}{w} e^{-xz - yw + \epsilon y - \epsilon x + \frac{w^{3} + z^{3}}{3}},$$

$$\mathsf{K}_{1}(x,y) = \epsilon e^{-2\epsilon x + \epsilon y + \frac{\epsilon^{3}}{3}} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}\lambda \mathrm{Ai}(y + \lambda),$$

$$\mathsf{K}_{2}(x,y) = \mathrm{Ai}(x) e^{-\epsilon x + \frac{\epsilon^{3}}{3}}.$$
(93)

• The small ϵ limit of K_0 is taken easily as ϵ does not play any particular role in the convergence of the integrals, it reads

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \mathsf{K}_0 = \mathsf{K}^{\mathrm{GLD}}.\tag{94}$$

ullet Similarly, the small ϵ limit of K_2 is taken straightforwardly and reads

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \mathsf{K}_2 = \mathsf{Ai}. \tag{95}$$

Indeed, the Airy function will always make any integral over *x* convergent.



• The convergence of K₁ is more complicated and as the devil hides in the details, we have to analyze this part of the kernel very carefully. One could be tempted to write that

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \mathsf{K}_1(x, y) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \epsilon e^{-2\epsilon x + \epsilon y + \frac{\epsilon^3}{3}} \int_0^{+\infty} \mathsf{d}\lambda \mathsf{Ai}(y + \lambda) = 0. \tag{96}$$

This is wrong and the whole subtlety of the small ϵ limit. The convergence of the kernel with respect to the variable y is controlled by the Airy function, hence we are allowed to take the limit $e^{\epsilon y + \frac{\epsilon^3}{3}} \to 1$. We are now going to show the distributional identity

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left(\epsilon e^{-2\epsilon x} \right) = \frac{1}{2} \delta(x = +\infty) := \frac{1}{2} \delta_{\infty}(x). \tag{97}$$

When we multiply the kernel K_1 on the left by an arbitrary element K, we have to calculate the following product

$$\int_{s}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}x K(z,x) \mathsf{K}_{1}(x,y) = \epsilon \int_{s}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}x K(z,x) e^{-2\epsilon x} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}\lambda \mathrm{Ai}(y+\lambda). \tag{98}$$

Proceeding to the change of variable $\tilde{x} = 2\epsilon x$, we have

$$\int_{s}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}x K(z,x) \mathsf{K}_{1}(x,y) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{2s\epsilon}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}\tilde{x} K(z,\frac{\tilde{x}}{2\epsilon}) e^{-\tilde{x}} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}\lambda \mathrm{Ai}(y+\lambda). \tag{99}$$

In the limit of small ϵ , this integral should be equal to

$$\frac{1}{2} \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{2s\epsilon}^{+\infty} d\tilde{x} K(z, \frac{\tilde{x}}{2\epsilon}) e^{-\tilde{x}} \int_{0}^{+\infty} d\lambda \operatorname{Ai}(y + \lambda)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \lim_{X \to +\infty} K(z, X) \left(\int_{0}^{+\infty} d\tilde{x} e^{-\tilde{x}} \right) \int_{0}^{+\infty} d\lambda \operatorname{Ai}(y + \lambda) \qquad (100)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \lim_{X \to +\infty} K(z, X) \int_{0}^{+\infty} d\lambda \operatorname{Ai}(y + \lambda).$$

Naively one would claim that this limit is always zero due to some exponential decay of the kernels. However, the kernel K_2 does not decay

$$\lim_{X \to +\infty} \mathsf{K}_2(z, X) = \mathsf{Ai}(z) \neq 0,\tag{101}$$

hence products of K_2 and K_1 give a non zero result for $\epsilon \to 0$.

To summarize this discussion, we have shown that the kernel for $\epsilon = 0$ is equal to

$$\mathsf{K}(x,y) = \mathsf{K}^{\mathrm{GLD}}(x,y) - \frac{1}{2}\delta_{\infty}(x) \int_{0}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}\lambda \mathrm{Ai}(y+\lambda) + \mathrm{Ai}(x). \tag{102}$$

The last effort of this Section now consists in proving that the Fredholm determinant of K is indeed identical to the one of the GOE-TW distribution. As it is common for such manipulations, we introduce the brackets notations

$$\delta_{\infty}(x) = |\delta_{\infty}\rangle$$

$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} d\lambda \operatorname{Ai}(y + \lambda) = \langle 1|\operatorname{Ai}$$

$$\operatorname{Ai}(x) = |\operatorname{Ai}\rangle,$$
(103)

where we have implicitly promoted the Airy function to an operator of kernel $\mathrm{Ai}(x,y)=\mathrm{Ai}(x+y)$.



Remark 5.2. With this notation, we have $K^{\text{GLD}} = K_{\text{Ai}} - \frac{1}{2} |\text{Ai}\rangle \langle 1| \text{Ai}$.

Under these conventions, our kernel for $\epsilon = 0$ is written as

$$K = K^{GLD} - \frac{1}{2} |\delta_{\infty}\rangle \langle 1| Ai + |Ai\rangle \langle 1|.$$
 (104)

The kernel K can be interpreted as the $K^{\rm GLD}$ kernel with a rank 2 perturbation. By the matrix determinant lemma coupled to the Sherman-Morrison formula, we can evaluate the Fredholm determinant of K and extract the two rank 1 perturbations as

$$\operatorname{Det}(I - \mathsf{K}) = \operatorname{Det}\left(I - K^{\operatorname{GLD}} + \frac{1}{2} |\delta_{\infty}\rangle \langle 1|\operatorname{Ai} - |\operatorname{Ai}\rangle \langle 1|\right) = \operatorname{Det}\left(I - K^{\operatorname{GLD}}\right)$$

$$\times \left[\left(1 - \langle 1|(I - K^{\operatorname{GLD}})^{-1} |\operatorname{Ai}\rangle\right) \left(1 + \frac{1}{2} \langle 1|\operatorname{Ai}(I - K^{\operatorname{GLD}})^{-1} |\delta_{\infty}\rangle\right) + \frac{1}{2} \langle 1|\operatorname{Ai}(I - K^{\operatorname{GLD}})^{-1} |\operatorname{Ai}\rangle \langle 1|(I - K^{\operatorname{GLD}})^{-1} |\delta_{\infty}\rangle\right]. \tag{105}$$

Since K^{GLD} decreases fast enough at infinity in both arguments, we have for any integer $n \ge 1$ the equality

$$(K^{\text{GLD}})^n |\delta_{\infty}\rangle = 0. \tag{106}$$

On the contrary, the identity keeps $|\delta_\infty\rangle$ invariant, i.e. $I|\delta_\infty\rangle=|\delta_\infty\rangle$ and hence by a regular series expansion we obtain the action of δ_∞ on the resolvant of $K^{\rm GLD}$.

$$(I - K^{\text{GLD}})^{-1} |\delta_{\infty}\rangle = |\delta_{\infty}\rangle. \tag{107}$$

Similarly to the above considerations, by the decay property of the Airy function, we have that $\langle 1|\mathrm{Ai}|\delta_{\infty}\rangle=0$ and we also have readily the inner product $\langle 1|\delta_{\infty}\rangle=1$. Implementing these results in the Fredholm determinant of Eq. (105) leads to

$$Det(I - K) = Det(I - K^{GLD}) \left[1 - \langle 1 | (1 - \frac{1}{2}Ai)(I - K^{GLD})^{-1} | Ai \rangle \right]$$

$$= Det\left(I - K^{GLD} - | Ai \rangle \langle 1 | (1 - \frac{1}{2}Ai) \right)$$

$$= Det\left(I - K_{Ai} - | Ai \rangle \langle 1 | (1 - Ai) \rangle.$$
(108)

In the first line, we simplified Eq. (105) using the action of δ_{∞} , from the first to the second line we used the Matrix determinant lemma and from the second to the third line we introduced the expression of $K^{\rm GLD}$ with brackets notations. The last Fredholm determinant was shown by Forrester in Ref. [77] to be related to the GOE Tracy-Widom cumulative distribution function $F_1(s)$ as

$$F_1(s)^2 = \operatorname{Det}\left(I - K_{\operatorname{Ai}} - |\operatorname{Ai}\rangle\langle 1| (1 - \operatorname{Ai})\right)_{\mathbb{L}^2([s, +\infty[))}. \tag{109}$$

Hence, we finally conclude that for $\epsilon \to 0^+$, the cumulative probability of the one-point KPZ height field is given by the GOE Tracy-Widom distribution.

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \mathbb{P}\left(\frac{H(t)}{t^{1/3}} \le s\right) = F_1(s). \tag{110}$$



5.4 Solution for finite time at A = -1/2

Now that we have understood how to handle the limit $\epsilon \to 0^+$ on the infinite time kernel we can extend the same method to study A = -1/2 at finite time. We first rewrite the finite time scalar kernel (87) for any A > -1/2 as follows

$$\bar{K}_{t,\varsigma}(x,y) = -\int_{C^2} \frac{\mathrm{d}w\mathrm{d}z}{(2i\pi)^2} \frac{\Gamma(1+A+\frac{1}{2}-w)}{\Gamma(1+A+\frac{1}{2}+w)} \frac{\Gamma(1+A+\frac{1}{2}-z)}{\Gamma(1+A+\frac{1}{2}+z)} \frac{A+\frac{1}{2}+w}{A+\frac{1}{2}-z} \frac{A+\frac{1}{2}+z}{A+\frac{1}{2}-w} \times \Gamma(2w)\Gamma(1+2z) \varsigma^{z+w} \frac{\sin(\pi(z-w))}{\sin(\pi(z+w))} e^{-xz-yw+t} \frac{w^3+z^3}{3}, \tag{111}$$

where we have performed the derivative ∂_x , rearranged the Gamma functions and used the alternative form of the Mellin Barnes formula (46). We consider now the case $0 < A + \frac{1}{2} < 1$ (since we will perform the limit $A \to -1/2$ below this is sufficient for our purpose). Then we can move the integration contour of both variables from C to \hat{C} which, at finite time is $\hat{C} = a + i\mathbb{R}$ with $a \in]A + \frac{1}{2}, 1[$. This allows to take the A = -1/2 limit, following similar steps as in the previous Section.

To study the $A \to -\frac{1}{2}$ limit, we will first denote $\tilde{A} = A + \frac{1}{2}$ and similarly to the infinite time limit, we conjugate the kernel $\bar{K}_{t,\varsigma}$ on the left by the multiplication of $e^{-\tilde{A}x}$ and on the right by the multiplication of $e^{\tilde{A}y}$ and we denote $K_{t,\varsigma}$ the new kernel. This operation leaves again the associated Fredholm determinant unchanged. Evaluating the two residues of the kernel splits it in three parts $K_{t,\varsigma} = K_0^{\tilde{A}} + K_1^{\tilde{A}} + K_2^{\tilde{A}}$. The first part is the same expression as (111) with C replaced by \hat{C} . We will write it here with the limit $A \to -1/2$ already taken

$$K_0^0(x,y) = \frac{\partial_x}{2\pi} \iint_{\hat{C}^2} \frac{\mathrm{d}w \mathrm{d}z}{(2i\pi)^2} \Gamma(-w) \Gamma(-z) \Gamma(w + \frac{1}{2}) \Gamma(z + \frac{1}{2}) (4\varsigma)^{z+w} \frac{\sin(\pi(z-w))}{\sin(\pi(z+w))} e^{-xz-yw+t\frac{w^3+z^3}{3}}.$$
(112)

We now determine the residues at $w, z = \tilde{A}$ obtained by pushing the contour C into \hat{C} .

• The residue at $z = \tilde{A}$ gives the projector

$$K_1^{\tilde{A}}(x,y) = -\zeta^{\tilde{A}}\tilde{A}e^{\tilde{A}y - 2x\tilde{A} + t\frac{\tilde{A}^3}{3}}\psi_{\tilde{A}}(y), \tag{113}$$

with

$$\psi_{\tilde{A}}(y) = -2 \int_{\hat{C}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\Gamma(1+\tilde{A}-w)}{\Gamma(1+\tilde{A}+w)} \frac{\tilde{A}+w}{\tilde{A}-w} \Gamma(2w) \varsigma^{w} \frac{\sin(\pi(w-\tilde{A}))}{\sin(\pi(w+\tilde{A}))} e^{-yw+t\frac{w^{3}}{3}}. \tag{114}$$

We only need the $\tilde{A} = 0$ limit of $\psi_{\tilde{A}}(y)$ given as

$$\psi_0(y) = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \int_{\hat{C}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \Gamma(-w) \Gamma(w + \frac{1}{2}) (4\varsigma)^w e^{-yw + t\frac{w^3}{3}}, \tag{115}$$

where in that limit \hat{C} crosses the real axis in the interval]0,1[. As in the infinite time limit, the kernel $K_1^{\tilde{A}}$ converges to

$$\lim_{\tilde{\lambda} \to 0} K_1^{\tilde{A}}(x, y) = -\frac{1}{2} \delta_{\infty}(x) \psi_0(y). \tag{116}$$



Remark 5.3. Introducing the Fourier transform of the Airy function and the Barnes integral

$$e^{t\frac{w^3}{3}} = \int_{\mathbb{R}} dr \operatorname{Ai}(r) e^{t^{1/3}wr},$$

$${}_{2}F_{1}(a,b,c,z) = \frac{\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(b)} \int_{i\mathbb{R}} \frac{ds}{2i\pi} (-z)^{s} \frac{\Gamma(a+s)\Gamma(b+s)\Gamma(-s)}{\Gamma(c+s)},$$
(117)

it is possible to express $\psi_0(y)$ as

$$\psi_0(y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} dr \operatorname{Ai}(r) \left[1 - \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + 4\varsigma e^{-y + t^{1/3}r}}} \right].$$
 (118)

This is reminiscent of the result obtained in Refs. [26, 58] about the solution at all times for A = -1/2, see below.

• The residue at $w = \tilde{A}$ gives another projector

$$K_2^{\tilde{A}}(x,y) = -\zeta^{\tilde{A}}e^{-\tilde{A}x + t\frac{\tilde{A}^3}{3}}\partial_x\psi_{\tilde{A}}(x). \tag{119}$$

In the limit $A \rightarrow -\frac{1}{2}$, this kernel converges to

$$\lim_{\tilde{A} \to 0} K_2^{\tilde{A}}(x, y) = \phi_0(x) := -\partial_x \psi_0(x) \quad , \quad \psi_0(x) = \int_0^{+\infty} d\lambda \phi_0(x + \lambda). \tag{120}$$

To summarize, the $A \rightarrow -\frac{1}{2}$ limit of the kernel $K_{t,\varsigma}$ is given by

$$\lim_{\tilde{A} \to 0} \mathsf{K}_{t,\varsigma}(x,y) = K_0^0(x,y) - \frac{1}{2} \delta_{\infty}(x) \psi_0(y) - \partial_x \psi_0(x)$$

$$= K_0^0(x,y) - \frac{1}{2} \delta_{\infty}(x) \int_0^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}\lambda \phi_0(y+\lambda) + \phi_0(x). \tag{121}$$

The structure of this kernel is similar to the one for infinite time in (104). Hence we can follow the same steps and treat the two projectors and the δ_{∞} term using the Sherman-Morrison formula and the matrix determinant lemma which allows us to conclude that

$$\lim_{\tilde{A}\to 0} \operatorname{Det}\left(I - \bar{K}_{t,\varsigma}\right) = \operatorname{Det}\left(I - K_0^0 - |\phi_0\rangle \langle 1| \left(1 - \frac{1}{2}\phi_0\right)\right)_{\mathbb{L}^2(\mathbb{R}_+)},\tag{122}$$

which translates for the generating function of the exponential of the KPZ height as

$$g(\varsigma)^{2} = \mathbb{E}_{KPZ} \left[\exp(-\varsigma e^{H(t)}) \right]^{2} = \operatorname{Det} \left(I - K_{0}^{0} - |\phi_{0}\rangle \langle 1| \left(1 - \frac{1}{2}\phi_{0}\right) \right)_{\mathbb{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}. \tag{123}$$

Our final result for the generating function at all time for A = -1/2 can thus be written more explicitly as

$$g(\varsigma) = \mathbb{E}_{KPZ} \left[\exp(-\varsigma e^{H(t)}) \right] = \sqrt{\operatorname{Det} \left(I - K_{\varsigma} \right)_{\mathbb{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}}, \tag{124}$$

with

$$K_{\varsigma}(x,y) = K_0^0(x,y) - \frac{1}{2}\phi_0(x) \int_0^{+\infty} d\lambda \phi_0(y+\lambda) + \phi_0(x), \tag{125}$$



where $K_0^0(x, y)$ is given in (112) and

$$\phi_0(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \int_{\hat{C}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \Gamma(1-w) \Gamma(w+\frac{1}{2}) (4\varsigma)^w e^{-xw+t\frac{w^3}{3}},\tag{126}$$

where in all formula the contour \hat{C} runs parallel to the imaginary axis and crosses the real axis in the interval]0,1[. In the large time limit one sets $\varsigma=e^{-t^{1/3}s}$ and rescales the integration variables $w\to wt^{-1/3}, z\to zt^{-1/3}$ and perform a similarity transformation on the kernel. The function ϕ_0 then leads to the Airy function, and one recovers the large time result of the previous Section.

Remark 5.4. Note that in Refs. [26,58], another formula was proved for finite time and $A = -\frac{1}{2}$, i.e.

$$\mathbb{E}_{KPZ}\left[\exp(-\varsigma e^{H(t)})\right] = \mathbb{E}_{GOE}\left[\prod_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + 4\varsigma e^{t^{1/3}a_i}}}\right],\tag{127}$$

where the set $\{a_i\}$ forms a Pfaffian GOE point process. The equivalence between the two formulae is under investigation.

6 Conclusion

In this paper we have extended the replica Bethe ansatz solution to the KPZ equation in a half-space for droplet initial condition near the wall, previously obtained for wall parameter $A = +\infty$ and A = 0, to generic value of A. This is an important problem which is believed, via universality, to exhibit a rich GSE/GOE/Gaussian transition first discovered by Baik and Rains. Despite much progress in the topic of exact solutions for the KPZ equation, this has remained a challenge for several years. A recent theorem which maps this problem to the (easier) case of $A = +\infty$ (Dirichlet) but with a Brownian initial condition was inspiring in the solution. Indeed we could apply the same type of summation as was developed in the solution of the Brownian initial condition in the full space. We used the known results for the Bethe ansatz eigenstates of the delta Bose gas in the half-line with Dirichlet boundary conditions.

At present, for a technical reason, our solution is valid for all times but limited to $A \ge -1/2$, i.e. the unbound phase. It allows to demonstrate the convergence to the GSE and GOE Tracy Widom distributions at large time in this phase. We have also obtained the crossover or transition kernel valid in the critical region $A + \frac{1}{2} = \epsilon t^{-1/3}$. The form of our transition kernel is novel, and we have shown that for $\epsilon \ge 0$ it agrees to a high order with the results of the kernel obtained by completely different methods for discrete models (facilitated TASEP and last passage percolation). This non-trivial check leads us to conjecture that these two kernel are fully equivalent. Additionally, let us note that the phase diagram we have presented for the solution to the KPZ equation echoes the one obtained in Ref. [41] Section 8 for the log-gamma polymer.

In a companion study [29] we have approached the problem differently by elucidating the structure of the boundary bound states which appear in the half-line Bose gas with generic parameter A. It quite easily yields results for the Gaussian phase A < -1/2 where these states dominate. It would be nice to find a bridge between these studies and to obtain a more complete solution of the KPZ equation in the half-space for all values of A. Let us close by mentioning that the physics content of the mapping between the Brownian initial condition and the droplet initial condition with different interactions with the wall remains to be understood deeper.



Acknowledgements

We thank Guillaume Barraquand for countless discussions on the problem of the Kardar-Parisi-Zhang equation in a half-space. PLD acknowledges early discussions with A. Borodin, I. Corwin and P. Calabrese, and a fruitful ongoing collaboration on these and related topics with J. de Nardis and T. Thiery. We finally acknowledge support from ANR grant ANR-17-CE30-0027-01 RaMaTraF and AK acknowledges support from ERC under Consolidator grant number 771536 (NEMO).

A Overlap of the half-line Bethe states with the Brownian initial condition

Here we give some details on the calculation of the overlap $\langle \Psi_{\mu} | \Phi_0 \rangle$ between the half-line Bethe states and the Brownian initial condition. We recall that Φ_0 , given in (21), is a fully symmetric function of its arguments, and that in the sector $0 \le x_1 < \cdots \le x_n$ it equals

$$\Phi_0(x_1, \dots, x_n) = \exp\left(\frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^n (2n - 2j + 1)x_j - wx_j\right),\tag{128}$$

where $w=(A+\frac{1}{2})$ is the drift of the Brownian. Since we will find that the overlap is real, we will instead calculate its complex conjugate and use that $\langle \Psi_{\mu}|\Phi_{0}\rangle^{*}=\langle \Phi_{0}|\Psi_{\mu}\rangle=\langle \Psi_{\mu}|\Phi_{0}\rangle$. Since Ψ_{μ} is also a symmetric function of its arguments, by definition the overlap can thus be written as

$$\langle \Phi_0 | \Psi_\mu \rangle = n! \int_{0 < y_1 < y_2 < \dots < y_n} dy_1 \dots dy_n \, \Psi_\mu(y_1, \dots, y_n) e^{\sum_{j=1}^n \frac{1}{2} (2n+1-2j)y_j - wy_j}. \tag{129}$$

Inserting the explicit form of the Bethe eigenstate (23) as a superposition of plane waves we obtain

$$\langle \Phi_{0} | \Psi_{\mu} \rangle = \frac{n!}{(2i)^{n}} \sum_{p \in S_{n}} \prod_{p=1}^{n} \left(\sum_{\varepsilon_{p}=\pm 1} \varepsilon_{p} \right)$$

$$\times \prod_{k < \ell} \left(1 + \frac{i}{\varepsilon_{\ell} \lambda_{p(\ell)} - \varepsilon_{k} \lambda_{p(k)}} \right) \left(1 + \frac{i}{\varepsilon_{\ell} \lambda_{p(\ell)} + \varepsilon_{k} \lambda_{p(k)}} \right) G_{n,w}(\varepsilon_{1} \lambda_{p(1)}, \dots, \varepsilon_{n} \lambda_{p(n)}),$$

$$(130)$$

where we have defined the integrals

$$G_{n,w}(\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_n) = \int_{0 < y_1 < y_2 < \dots < y_n} dy_1 \dots dy_p \, e^{\sum_{j=1}^n (-w + i\lambda_j) y_j + \frac{1}{2} (2n + 1 - 2j) y_j}. \tag{131}$$

These integrals can be explicitly evaluated

$$G_{n,w}(\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_n) = \prod_{j=1}^n \frac{-1}{-jw + i\lambda_n + \dots + i\lambda_{n+1-j} + j^2/2}.$$
 (132)

Now in (130) for each permutation P we can relabel all the $\varepsilon_p \to \varepsilon_{P(p)}$ and denoting by $\sum_{\{\varepsilon\}=\pm 1}$ the operation of summation over all the variables ε (an operation independent of



their labeling) we can rewrite (130) as

$$\langle \Phi_{0} | \Psi_{\mu} \rangle = \frac{n!}{(2i)^{n}} \sum_{\{\varepsilon\} = \pm 1} \prod_{\ell=1}^{n} \varepsilon_{\ell} \prod_{k < \ell} (1 + \frac{i}{\varepsilon_{k} \lambda_{k} + \varepsilon_{\ell} \lambda_{\ell}})$$

$$\sum_{P \in S_{n}} \prod_{k < \ell} (1 + \frac{i}{\varepsilon_{P(\ell)} \lambda_{P(\ell)} - \varepsilon_{P(k)} \lambda_{P(k)}}) G_{n,w}(\varepsilon_{P(1)} \lambda_{P(1)}, \dots, \varepsilon_{P(n)} \lambda_{P(n)}),$$
(133)

where we have used the fact that the product

$$\prod_{k < \ell} \left(1 + \frac{i}{\varepsilon_{P(\ell)} \lambda_{P(\ell)} + \varepsilon_{P(k)} \lambda_{P(k)}} \right) = \prod_{k < \ell} \left(1 + \frac{i}{\varepsilon_k \lambda_k + \varepsilon_\ell \lambda_\ell} \right) \tag{134}$$

is independent of the permutation P. Now we use the following "miracle" equality, proved in [71]

$$\sum_{P \in S_n} \prod_{k < \ell} \left(1 + \frac{i}{\lambda_{P(\ell)} - \lambda_{P(n)}} \right) G_{p,w}(\lambda_{P(1)}, \dots, \lambda_{P(n)}) = \prod_{j=1}^n \frac{1}{w - \frac{1}{2} - i\lambda_j}.$$
 (135)

Applying it to the set $\{\varepsilon_k \lambda_k\}$ we obtain

$$\langle \Phi_0 | \Psi_\mu \rangle = \frac{n!}{(2i)^n} \sum_{\{\varepsilon\} = \pm 1} \prod_{k \le \ell} \left(1 + \frac{i}{\varepsilon_k \lambda_k + \varepsilon_\ell \lambda_\ell} \right) \prod_{j=1}^n \frac{\varepsilon_j}{w - \frac{1}{2} - i\varepsilon_j \lambda_j}.$$
 (136)

Let us denote $w = A + \frac{1}{2}$. We now conjecture the following identity valid for any set of complex numbers λ_i

$$\sum_{\{\varepsilon\}=\pm 1} \prod_{k<\ell} \left(1 + \frac{i}{\varepsilon_k \lambda_k + \varepsilon_\ell \lambda_\ell}\right) \prod_{j=1}^n \frac{\varepsilon_j}{A - i\varepsilon_j \lambda_j} = (2i)^n \prod_{j=1}^n \frac{\lambda_j}{A^2 + \lambda_j^2},\tag{137}$$

which we have checked to high order n = 5 using Mathematica. Inserting in (136) we obtain the formula for the overlap (34) given in the text.

We note that the overlap formula it is a priori valid before the insertion of the solution of the Bethe equations, i.e. it is valid for any set of complex λ_j , invariant by complex conjugation, such that the overlap integral converges. The condition for that to be true can be read from (135) as

$$\operatorname{Re}(i\lambda_j) < w - \frac{1}{2} \tag{138}$$

for all $j \in [1, n]$. Inserting a string state, labeled by $\{k_j, m_j\}_{j=1,\dots,n_s}$, and specifying $w = A + \frac{1}{2}$, the condition becomes $\frac{1}{2} \max_j m_j \le \frac{n}{2} < A + \frac{1}{2}$.

B Calculation of the first moment of Z(t)

Starting from the general formula (38) for the moments of Z(t) we can read the explicit expression for $\mathbb{E}_{KPZ}[Z(t)]$, i.e. n = 1, for A > 0.

$$\mathbb{E}_{KPZ}[Z(t)]|_{(38)} = \int_{\mathbb{D}} \frac{dk}{\pi} e^{-k^2 t} \frac{k^2}{A^2 + k^2}.$$
 (139)

This result however is not correct for A < 0 as we now show.

The Lieb-Liniger model for a single particle reduces to the standard heat equation on the half-line with boundary coefficient *A*, which is easily solved. The (un-normalized) eigenfunctions are the



• For all $A \in \mathbb{R}$, the following plane wave solves the eigenvalue equation with eigenenergy k^2

$$\Psi(x) = \frac{1}{2i} \left(e^{ikx} (1 + i\frac{k}{A}) - e^{-ikx} (1 - i\frac{k}{A}) \right). \tag{140}$$

Its norm on a line of length L is $||\Psi||^2 = \frac{L}{2}(1 + \frac{k^2}{A^2})$. The real momentum k is quantized on the line [0, L]. In the $L \to \infty$ limit, the summation over eigenstates becomes $\sum_k \to L \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{dk}{2\pi}$. The contribution of this plane wave to the first moment of Z(t) is

$$Z_A(t) = L \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{\mathrm{d}k}{2\pi} e^{-k^2 t} \frac{\Psi(0)^2}{||\Psi||^2} = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{\mathrm{d}k}{\pi} e^{-k^2 t} \frac{k^2}{A^2 + k^2}.$$
 (141)

• For all A < 0, an additional state, i.e. a boundary bound state (BS), with energy $-A^2$ appears

$$\Psi_{BS}(x) = e^{Ax}. (142)$$

Its norm on the infinite line is $||\Psi_{BS}||^2 = -\frac{1}{2A}$ and its contribution to the first moment of Z(t) is

$$Z_{BS}(t) = e^{A^2 t} \frac{\Psi_{BS}(0)^2}{||\Psi_{BS}||^2} = -2Ae^{A^2 t}\Theta(-A), \tag{143}$$

where Θ is the Heaviside function.

The total result valid for all $A \in \mathbb{R}$ is thus

$$\mathbb{E}_{KPZ}[Z(t)] = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{\mathrm{d}k}{\pi} e^{-k^2 t} \frac{k^2}{A^2 + k^2} - 2Ae^{A^2 t} \Theta(-A). \tag{144}$$

This can also be obtained by solving the heat equation in time, leading to the same result.

We observe that the second contribution Z_{BS} is absent from our result (38). It confirms that our moment formula is valid only in a certain range of values, i.e. A + 1/2 > n/2 for the n-th moment of Z(t). The complete formula thus requires including the boundary bound states.

C Comparison of the Fredholm Pfaffians

As announced in the main text, we now test our conjecture (74), i.e. we compare the Fredholm Pfaffian based on our transition kernel, given in (72), and the one based on the crossover kernel of Ref. [37] Definition 2.9, recalled in (75).

C.1 Series expansion of a Fredholm Pfaffian

Let us recall here the first terms in the series expansion of a Fredholm Pfaffian in powers of its kernel. Here K denotes a generic kernel. By definition

$$Pf(J-K)_{\mathbb{L}^{2}([s,+\infty[)} = 1 + \sum_{n_{s}=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{n_{s}}}{n_{s}!} \prod_{p=1}^{n_{s}} \int_{s}^{+\infty} dr_{p} Pf[K(r_{i},r_{j})]_{n_{s},n_{s}}.$$
 (145)



More explicitly we write (with the convention that $K_{21}(r,r') = -K_{12}(r',r)$)

where all integrations in the traces run onto $[s, +\infty[$. For completeness, we also provide the fourth order of the expansion, as given in Appendix G of Ref. [13].

$$\mathcal{O}(K^{4}) = \frac{1}{4!} \left(\text{Tr}[K_{12}]^{4} - 6\text{Tr}[K_{12}]^{2}\text{Tr}[K_{12}^{2}] + 3\text{Tr}[K_{12}^{2}]^{2} + 8\text{Tr}[K_{12}]\text{Tr}[K_{12}^{3}] \right.$$

$$\left. - 6\text{Tr}[K_{12}^{4}] + 6\text{Tr}[K_{12}]^{2}\text{Tr}[K_{11}K_{22}] - 6\text{Tr}[K_{12}^{2}]\text{Tr}[K_{11}K_{22}] + 3\text{Tr}[K_{11}K_{22}]^{2} \right.$$

$$\left. - 6\text{Tr}[(K_{11}K_{22})^{2}] - 24\text{Tr}[K_{12}]\text{Tr}[K_{11}K_{22}K_{12}] + 24\text{Tr}[K_{11}K_{22}K_{12}^{2}] \right.$$

$$\left. + 12\text{Tr}[K_{11}K_{12}^{T}K_{22}K_{12}] \right).$$

$$(147)$$

Remark C.1. In the case where K_{12} is rank 1 operator, we have for all integer n, $Tr(K_{12}^n) = (TrK_{12})^n$, simplifying the expansion dramatically. In that case it becomes [13]

$$Pf[J-K]_{\mathbb{L}^{2}([s,+\infty[)} = 1 - TrK_{12} + \frac{1}{2}TrK_{11}K_{22} + \frac{1}{2}(2TrK_{12}K_{11}K_{22} - TrK_{12}TrK_{11}K_{22}) + \frac{1}{4!}(3(TrK_{11}K_{22})^{2} - 6Tr(K_{11}K_{22})^{2}) + \mathcal{O}(K^{5}).$$
(148)

C.2 Kernel with all contours at the right of ϵ

To be able to track systematically the degree of homogeneity of each integral in the expansion at large s as explained in the text, we move all integration contours to \hat{C} which is at the right of ϵ . For our kernel this was done in (72), leading to the schematic form (73) where the upper label p, p = 1, 2 denotes the number of independent integrals with a cubic exponential, leading to the large positive s decay $\sim \exp(\frac{2}{3}ps^{3/2})$. We need to put the kernel K_{cross} in (75)



in the same form. It reads

$$I_{11}(r,r') = \iint_{\hat{C}^{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{w+\epsilon}{w} \frac{z+\epsilon}{z} e^{-r'z-rw+\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3}}$$

$$I_{12}(r,r') = \frac{1}{2} \iint_{\hat{C}^{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{w+\epsilon}{w} \frac{1}{\epsilon-z} e^{-r'z-rw+\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3}}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{\hat{C}} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{w-\epsilon}{w} e^{-r'\epsilon-rw+\frac{w^{3}+\epsilon^{3}}{3}}$$

$$I_{22}(r,r') = \frac{1}{4} \iint_{\hat{C}^{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{1}{\epsilon-z} \frac{1}{\epsilon-w} e^{-r'z-rw+\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3}}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{4} \int_{\hat{C}} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{e^{z^{3}/3+\epsilon^{3}/3}}{\epsilon+z} \left[e^{-r'z-r\epsilon} - e^{-rz-r'\epsilon} \right]$$

$$R_{22}(r,r') = \frac{1}{4} \operatorname{sgn}(r'-r)e^{-|r-r'|\epsilon},$$

$$(149)$$

where, as mentionned in the text the total $K_{\text{cross},22}$ element of K_{cross} is equal to the sum $I_{22}+R_{22}$, hence for convenience we have moved some terms from R_{22} to I_{22} . The decomposition in their homogeneity in cubic exponentials (without counting the terms ϵ^3) read

$$I_{11} = I_{11}^{(2)}$$

$$I_{22} + R_{22} = I_{22}^{(2)} + I_{22}^{(1)} + R_{22}^{(0)}$$

$$I_{12} = I_{12}^{(2)} + I_{12}^{(1)}.$$
(150)

The important observation is that there is an anomalous term, of homogeneity zero p=0, coming from R_{22} .

Remark C.2. $I_{12}^{(1)}$ is a rank 1 operator.

C.3 Expansion of the Pfaffians in degree of homogeneity

Consider first the expansion of $Pf(J - K^{\epsilon})_{\mathbb{L}^2([s, +\infty[)]}$ using the formula (146) (and if needed (160) and (148)). We expand in the total degree of homogeneity (i.e. the degree of stretched exponential decay at large s) so we need to pick up terms in various orders in the expansion of the Pfaffian. Fortunately, to expand to third order in homogeneity this order is not too large. Recalling that

$$K_{11}^{\epsilon} = K_{11}^{\epsilon,(2)} + K_{11}^{\epsilon,(1)}$$

$$K_{22}^{\epsilon} = K_{22}^{\epsilon,(2)}$$

$$K_{12}^{\epsilon} = K_{12}^{\epsilon,(2)} + K_{12}^{\epsilon,(1)}$$
(151)

and gathering terms of successive orders of homogeneity in (146), we obtain (here K denotes K^{ϵ})

$$\begin{array}{lll} \operatorname{order} \mathcal{O}(0): & 1 \\ & \operatorname{order} \mathcal{O}(1): & -\operatorname{Tr} K_{12}^{(1)} \\ \operatorname{order} \mathcal{O}(2): & -\operatorname{Tr} K_{12}^{(2)} \\ & \operatorname{order} \mathcal{O}(3): & \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{Tr} K_{11}^{(1)} K_{22}^{(2)} + \operatorname{Tr} K_{12}^{(2)} \operatorname{Tr} K_{12}^{(1)} - \operatorname{Tr} K_{12}^{(2)} K_{12}^{(1)}. \end{array} \tag{152}$$



Performing the same operation for $Pf(J - K_{cross})_{\mathbb{L}^2([s,+\infty[))}$, inserting (150) into (146) we obtain

$$\begin{split} & \text{order}\,\mathcal{O}(0): & 1 \\ & \text{order}\,\mathcal{O}(1): & -\text{TrI}_{12}^{(1)} \\ & \text{order}\,\mathcal{O}(2): & -\text{TrI}_{12}^{(2)} + \frac{1}{2}\text{TrR}_{22}^{(0)}\text{I}_{11}^{(2)} \\ & \text{order}\,\mathcal{O}(3): & \frac{1}{2}\text{TrI}_{11}^{(2)}\text{I}_{22}^{(1)} + \text{TrI}_{12}^{(2)}\text{TrI}_{12}^{(1)} - \text{TrI}_{12}^{(2)}\text{I}_{12}^{(1)} \\ & & -\frac{1}{2}\Big[\text{TrI}_{12}^{(1)}\text{TrI}_{11}^{(2)}\text{R}_{22}^{(0)} - 2\text{TrI}_{12}^{(1)}\text{I}_{11}^{(2)}\text{R}_{22}^{(0)}\Big]. \end{split}$$

Thus, to verify that the two Fredholm Pfaffians in (74) are equal to third order, i.e. to and including $\mathcal{O}(e^{-2s^{3/2}})$, we need to show the following equalities

$$\begin{split} & \operatorname{Tr} K_{12}^{(1)} = \operatorname{Tr} I_{12}^{(1)} \\ & \operatorname{Tr} K_{12}^{(2)} = \operatorname{Tr} I_{12}^{(2)} - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} R_{22}^{(0)} I_{11}^{(2)} \\ & \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} K_{11}^{(1)} K_{22}^{(2)} + \operatorname{Tr} K_{12}^{(2)} \operatorname{Tr} K_{12}^{(1)} - \operatorname{Tr} K_{12}^{(2)} K_{12}^{(1)} \\ & = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} I_{11}^{(2)} I_{22}^{(1)} + \operatorname{Tr} I_{12}^{(2)} \operatorname{Tr} I_{12}^{(1)} - \operatorname{Tr} I_{12}^{(2)} I_{12}^{(1)} - \frac{1}{2} \left[\operatorname{Tr} I_{12}^{(1)} \operatorname{Tr} I_{11}^{(2)} R_{22}^{(0)} - 2 \operatorname{Tr} I_{12}^{(1)} I_{11}^{(2)} R_{22}^{(0)} \right]. \end{split}$$

Below we will prove the derivatives w.r.t. s of these equalities, which is simpler in general and sufficient since all terms vanish at $s = +\infty$. Once we have shown the first two equalities, we can use them to simplify the third one, so we will need to show

$$\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} K_{11}^{(1)} K_{22}^{(2)} - \operatorname{Tr} K_{12}^{(2)} K_{12}^{(1)} = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} I_{11}^{(2)} I_{12}^{(1)} - \operatorname{Tr} I_{12}^{(2)} I_{12}^{(1)} + \operatorname{Tr} I_{12}^{(1)} I_{11}^{(2)} R_{22}^{(0)}.$$
 (155)

C.3.1 Comparison of terms of homogeneity 1

One sees from (72) and (149) that $I_{12}^{(1)}(r,r') = K_{12}^{(1)}(r',r)$ hence one has immediately

$$TrI_{12}^{(1)} = TrK_{12}^{(1)}. (156)$$

The first equality in (154) then holds.

C.3.2 Comparison of terms of homogeneity 2

From (154) we now have to compare

$$\int_{s}^{\infty} dr K_{12}^{(2)}(r,r) = \int_{s}^{\infty} dr I_{12}^{(2)}(r,r) - \frac{1}{2} \iint_{s}^{\infty} dr dr' I_{11}^{(2)}(r,r') R_{22}^{(0)}(r',r).$$
 (157)

Taking the derivative with respect to s, and using the anti-symmetry of I_{11} and R_{22} this is equivalent to

$$K_{12}^{(2)}(s,s) = I_{12}^{(2)}(s,s) - \int_{s}^{\infty} dr' I_{11}^{(2)}(s,r') R_{22}^{(0)}(r',s).$$
 (158)

We recall that

$$K_{12}^{(2)}(r,r') = \frac{1}{4} \iint_{\hat{C}^2} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{z+\epsilon}{wz} \frac{\epsilon+w}{w-\epsilon} e^{-rw-r'z+\frac{w^3+z^3}{3}}$$
(159)



and

$$I_{12}^{(2)}(r,r') = \frac{1}{2} \iint_{\hat{C}^2} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{w+\epsilon}{w} \frac{1}{\epsilon-z} e^{-r'z-rw+\frac{w^3+z^3}{3}}$$
(160)

and

$$I_{11}^{(2)}(r,r') = \iint_{\hat{C}^2} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{w+\epsilon}{w} \frac{z+\epsilon}{z} e^{-r'z-rw+\frac{w^3+z^3}{3}}$$
(161)

and

$$R_{22}^{(0)}(r,r') = \frac{1}{4} \operatorname{sgn}(r'-r) e^{-|r-r'|\epsilon}.$$
 (162)

Since the integrals are on $[s, +\infty[$ one has $R_{22}^{(0)}(r', s) = -\frac{1}{4}e^{-(r'-s)\epsilon}$. Evaluating the integral we obtain

$$\int_{s}^{\infty} dr' I_{11}^{(2)}(s,r') R_{22}^{(0)}(r',s) = -\frac{1}{4} \int_{s}^{\infty} dr' \int \int_{\hat{C}^{2}} \frac{dz}{2i\pi} \frac{dw}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{w+\epsilon}{w} \frac{z+\epsilon}{z} e^{-r'(z+\epsilon)-sw+s\epsilon+\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3}}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{4} \int \int_{\hat{C}^{2}} \frac{dz}{2i\pi} \frac{dw}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{w+\epsilon}{wz} e^{-sz-sw+\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}}{3}}.$$
(163)

Inserting into (158) and using the expressions (159), (160) we see that the measure in the integrals including the exponentials are symmetric in (w,z). Hence the equality (158) will hold if we can show that the preexponential factor once symmetrized over (w,z) vanishes. The condition reads

$$\operatorname{sym}_{w,z} \frac{w - z}{w + z} \frac{\epsilon + w}{w} \left(\frac{1}{4} \frac{z + \epsilon}{z} \frac{1}{w - \epsilon} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{\epsilon - z} - \frac{1}{4z} \right) = 0 \tag{164}$$

and is easily checked to be true using mathematica. Hence the second equality in (154) holds.

C.3.3 Comparison of terms of homogeneity 3

We now calculate each term appearing in (155). One has

$$\text{Tr} \mathbf{K}_{12}^{(2)} \mathbf{K}_{12}^{(1)} \\ = \frac{1}{8} \iint_{s}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}r \mathrm{d}r' \iiint_{\hat{C}^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}v}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{w - z}{w + z} \frac{z + \epsilon}{wz} \frac{\epsilon + w}{w - \epsilon} \frac{v - \epsilon}{v} e^{-r(w + v) - r'(z + \epsilon) + \frac{w^{3} + z^{3} + v^{3} + \epsilon^{3}}{3}} \\ = \frac{1}{8} \iiint_{\hat{C}^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}v}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{w - z}{w + z} \frac{1}{wvz} \frac{\epsilon + w}{w - \epsilon} \frac{v - \epsilon}{v + w} e^{-s(w + v + z + \epsilon) + \frac{w^{3} + z^{3} + v^{3} + \epsilon^{3}}{3}}$$

$$(165)$$

and

$$\operatorname{TrK}_{11}^{(1)} K_{22}^{(2)} = \frac{1}{8} \iint_{s}^{+\infty} dr dr' \iiint_{\hat{C}^{3}} \frac{dv}{2i\pi} \frac{dw}{2i\pi} \frac{dz}{2i\pi} \left[e^{-rv - r'\epsilon} - e^{-r'v - r\epsilon} \right] \times \frac{w - z}{w + z} \frac{(z + \epsilon)(w + \epsilon)}{wvz} e^{-rw - r'z + \frac{w^{3} + z^{3} + v^{3} + \epsilon^{3}}{3}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{8} \iiint_{\hat{C}^{3}} \frac{dv}{2i\pi} \frac{dw}{2i\pi} \frac{dz}{2i\pi} \left[\frac{1}{(v + w)(z + \epsilon)} - \frac{1}{(z + v)(w + \epsilon)} \right] \times \frac{w - z}{w + z} \frac{(z + \epsilon)(w + \epsilon)}{wvz} e^{-s(w + z + v + \epsilon) + \frac{w^{3} + z^{3} + v^{3} + \epsilon^{3}}{3}}$$

$$\times \frac{w - z}{w + z} \frac{(z + \epsilon)(w + \epsilon)}{wvz} e^{-s(w + z + v + \epsilon) + \frac{w^{3} + z^{3} + v^{3} + \epsilon^{3}}{3}}$$

$$(166)$$



and

$$TrI_{12}^{(2)}I_{12}^{(1)} = \frac{1}{4} \iint_{s}^{+\infty} dr dr' \iiint_{\hat{C}^{3}} \frac{dz}{2i\pi} \frac{dw}{2i\pi} \frac{dv}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{w+\epsilon}{w} \frac{1}{\epsilon-z} \frac{v-\epsilon}{v} e^{-r'(z+v)-r(w+\epsilon)+\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}+v^{3}+\epsilon^{3}}{3}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{4} \iiint_{\hat{C}^{3}} \frac{dz}{2i\pi} \frac{dw}{2i\pi} \frac{dv}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{1}{wv} \frac{1}{\epsilon-z} \frac{v-\epsilon}{v+z} e^{-s(z+v+w+\epsilon)+\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}+v^{3}+\epsilon^{3}}{3}}$$

$$(167)$$

and

$$\operatorname{TrI}_{11}^{(2)}\operatorname{I}_{22}^{(1)} = \frac{1}{4} \iint_{s}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}r \mathrm{d}r' \iiint_{\hat{C}^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}v}{2i\pi} \frac{1}{\epsilon + v} \frac{w - z}{w + z} \frac{w + \epsilon}{w} \frac{z + \epsilon}{z} \left[e^{-rv - r'\epsilon} - e^{-r'v - r\epsilon} \right] \\ \times e^{-r'z - rw + \frac{w^{3} + z^{3} + v^{3} + \epsilon^{3}}{3}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{4} \iiint_{\hat{C}^{3}} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{2i\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}v}{2i\pi} \frac{1}{\epsilon + v} \frac{w - z}{w + z} \frac{w + \epsilon}{w} \frac{z + \epsilon}{z} \left[\frac{1}{(v + w)(\epsilon + z)} - \frac{1}{(v + z)(w + \epsilon)} \right] \\ \times e^{-s(v + w + z + \epsilon) + \frac{w^{3} + z^{3} + v^{3} + \epsilon^{3}}{3}}$$

$$(168)$$

and, finally

$$TrI_{12}^{(1)}I_{11}^{(2)}R_{22}^{(0)} = \frac{1}{8} \iiint_{s}^{+\infty} dr dr' dr'' \iiint_{\hat{C}^{3}} \frac{dz}{2i\pi} \frac{dw}{2i\pi} \frac{dv}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{w+\epsilon}{w} \frac{z+\epsilon}{z} \frac{v-\epsilon}{v} sgn(r''-r') \\
\times e^{-|r'-r''|\epsilon-r(\epsilon+w)-r''v-r'z+\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}+v^{3}+\epsilon^{3}}{3}} = \frac{1}{8} \iiint_{s}^{+\infty} dr' dr'' \iiint_{\hat{C}^{3}} \frac{dz}{2i\pi} \frac{dw}{2i\pi} \frac{dv}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{(z+\epsilon)(v-\epsilon)}{vwz} sgn(r''-r') \\
\times e^{-|r'-r''|\epsilon-s(\epsilon+w)-r''v-r'z+\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}+v^{3}+\epsilon^{3}}{3}} = \frac{1}{8} \iiint_{\hat{C}^{3}} \frac{dz}{2i\pi} \frac{dw}{2i\pi} \frac{dv}{2i\pi} \frac{w-z}{w+z} \frac{z-v}{v+z} \frac{v-\epsilon}{vwz} \frac{1}{v+\epsilon} e^{-s(\epsilon+z+v+w)+\frac{w^{3}+z^{3}+v^{3}+\epsilon^{3}}{3}}.$$
(169)

Putting now all terms together as in (155) and symmetrizing the preexponential factor in (w, z) as we did for the terms of homogeneity 2, we find, after a tedious calculation (using mathematica) that the symmetrized form vanishes. We believe that the agreement of the first three orders is a rather non-trivial check, which comes in very strong support of our conjecture (74).



References

- [1] M. Kardar, G. Parisi and Y.-C. Zhang, *Dynamic scaling of growing interfaces*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **56**, 889 (1986), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.56.889.
- [2] D. A. Huse, C. L. Henley and D. S. Fisher, *Huse, Henley, and Fisher respond*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **55**, 2924 (1985), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.55.2924.
- [3] T. Halpin-Healy and Y.-C. Zhang, *Kinetic roughening phenomena, stochastic growth, directed polymers and all that. Aspects of multidisciplinary statistical mechanics*, Phys. Rep. **254**, 215 (1995), doi:10.1016/0370-1573(94)00087-J.
- [4] J. Krug, Origins of scale invariance in growth processes, Adv. Phys. **46**, 139 (1997), doi:10.1080/00018739700101498.
- [5] M. Hairer, *Solving the KPZ equation*, Ann. Math. **178**, 559 (2013), doi:10.4007/annals.2013.178.2.4.
- [6] I. Corwin, *The Kardar–Parisi–Zhang equation and universality class*, Random Matrices: Theory Appl. **01**, 1130001 (2012), doi:10.1142/S2010326311300014.
- [7] T. Halpin-Healy and K. A. Takeuchi, *A KPZ cocktail Shaken, not stirred...*, J. Stat. Phys. **160**, 794 (2015), doi:10.1007/s10955-015-1282-1.
- [8] T. Sasamoto and H. Spohn, *One-dimensional Kardar-Parisi-Zhang equation:* An exact solution and its universality, Phys. Rev. Lett. **104**, 230602 (2010), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.104.230602.
- [9] P. Calabrese, P. Le Doussal and A. Rosso, Free-energy distribution of the directed polymer at high temperature, Europhys. Lett. **90**, 20002 (2010), doi:10.1209/0295-5075/90/20002.
- [10] V. Dotsenko, Bethe ansatz derivation of the Tracy-Widom distribution for onedimensional directed polymers, Europhys. Lett. 90, 20003 (2010), doi:10.1209/0295-5075/90/20003.
- [11] G. Amir, I. Corwin and J. Quastel, *Probability distribution of the free energy of the continuum directed random polymer in 1 + 1 dimensions*, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. **64**, 466 (2010), doi:10.1002/cpa.20347.
- [12] P. Calabrese and P. Le Doussal, *Exact solution for the Kardar-Parisi-Zhang equation with flat initial conditions*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **106**, 250603 (2011), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.106.250603.
- [13] P. Le Doussal and P. Calabrese, *The KPZ equation with flat initial condition and the directed polymer with one free end*, J. Stat. Mech. P06001 (2012), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2012/06/P06001.
- [14] T. Imamura and T. Sasamoto, *Exact solution for the stationary Kardar-Parisi-Zhang equation*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **108**, 190603 (2012), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.108.190603.
- [15] T. Imamura and T. Sasamoto, *Stationary correlations for the 1D KPZ equation*, J. Stat. Phys. **150**, 908 (2013), doi:10.1007/s10955-013-0710-3.
- [16] A. Borodin, I. Corwin, P. Ferrari and B. Vető, *Height fluctuations for the stationary KPZ equation*, Math. Phys. Anal. Geom. **18**, 20 (2015), doi:10.1007/s11040-015-9189-2.



- [17] C. A. Tracy and H. Widom, *Level-spacing distributions and the Airy kernel*, Commun. Math. Phys. **159**, 151 (1994), doi:10.1007/BF02100489.
- [18] C. A. Tracy and H. Widom, *On orthogonal and symplectic matrix ensembles*, Commun. Math. Phys. **177**, 727 (1996), doi:10.1007/BF02099545.
- [19] M. L. Mehta, Random Matrices, New York: Academic (1991).
- [20] P. J. Forrester, *Log-Gases and Random Matrices*, London Mathematical Society monographs (2010).
- [21] M. Kardar, Replica Bethe ansatz studies of two-dimensional interfaces with quenched random impurities, Nucl. Phys. B **290**, 582 (1987), doi:10.1016/0550-3213(87)90203-3.
- [22] M. Kardar, *Depinning by quenched randomness*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **55**, 2235 (1985), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.55.2235.
- [23] A. M. Somoza, P. Le Doussal and M. Ortuño, *Unbinding transition in semi-infinite two-dimensional localized systems*, Phys. Rev. B **91**, 155413 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.91.155413.
- [24] T. Gueudré and P. Le Doussal, *Directed polymer near a hard wall and KPZ equation in the half-space*, Europhys. Lett. **100**, 26006 (2012), doi:10.1209/0295-5075/100/26006.
- [25] A. Borodin, A. Bufetov and I. Corwin, *Directed random polymers via nested contour integrals*, Ann. Phys. **368**, 191 (2016), doi:10.1016/j.aop.2016.02.001.
- [26] G. Barraquand, A. Borodin, I. Corwin and M. Wheeler, *Stochastic six-vertex model in a half-quadrant and half-line open asymmetric simple exclusion process*, Duke Math. J. **167**, 2457 (2018), doi:10.1215/00127094-2018-0019.
- [27] A. Krajenbrink and P. Le Doussal, *Large fluctuations of the KPZ equation in a half-space*, SciPost Phys. **5**, 032 (2018), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.5.4.032.
- [28] P. Le Doussal (2016) Unpublished notes
- [29] J. De Nardis, A. Krajenbrink, P. Le Doussal and T. Thiery, *Delta-Bose gas on a half-line and the KPZ equation: boundary bound states and unbinding transitions* (2019), arXiv:1911.06133.
- [30] Jinho Baik, Eric M. Rains, Symmetrized random permutations (1999), arXiv:math/9910019.
- [31] T. Sasamoto, T. Imamura, *Fluctuations of a one-dimensional polynuclear growth model in a half space*, J. Stat. Phys. **115**, 749 (2004), doi:10.1023/B:JOSS.0000022374.73462.85.
- [32] T. Sasamoto, Fluctuations of the one-dimensional asymmetric exclusion process using random matrix techniques, J. Stat. Mech. P07007 (2007), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2007/07/P07007.
- [33] M. Prähofer and H. Spohn, *Current fluctuations for the totally asymmetric simple exclusion process*, Prog. Probab. 185 (2002), doi:10.1007/978-1-4612-0063-5 7.
- [34] N. O'Connell, T. Seppäläinen, N. Zygouras, Geometric RSK correspondence, Whittaker functions and symmetrized random polymers (2012), arXiv:1210.5126.



- [35] E. Bisi, N. Zygouras, Point-to-line polymers and orthogonal Whittaker functions (2017), arXiv:1703.07337.
- [36] C. A. Tracy and H. Widom, *The Bose gas and asymmetric simple exclusion process on the half-line*, J. Stat. Phys. **150**, 1 (2013), doi:10.1007/s10955-012-0686-4.
- [37] J. Baik, G. Barraquand, I. Corwin and T. Suidan, *Pfaffian Schur processes and last passage percolation in a half-quadrant*, Ann. Probab. **46**, 3015 (2018), doi:10.1214/17-AOP1226.
- [38] J. Baik, G. Barraquand, I. Corwin and T. Suidan, Facilitated exclusion process (2017), arXiv:1707.01923.
- [39] Y. Ito and K. A. Takeuchi, When fast and slow interfaces grow together: Connection to the half-space problem of the Kardar-Parisi-Zhang class, Phys. Rev. E 97, 040103 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevE.97.040103.
- [40] S. Parekh, Positive random walks and an identity for half-space SPDEs (2019), arXiv:1901.09449.
- [41] G. Barraquand, A. Borodin and I. Corwin, *Half-space Macdonald processes* (2018), arXiv:1802.08210.
- [42] I. Corwin and P. Ghosal, Lower tail of the KPZ equation (2018), arXiv:1802.03273.
- [43] Y. H. Kim, The lower tail of the half-space KPZ equation (2019), arXiv:1905.07703.
- [44] I. Corwin and P. Ghosal, KPZ equation tails for general initial data (2018), arXiv:1810.07129.
- [45] L.-C. Tsai, Exact lower tail large deviations of the KPZ equation (2018), arXiv:1809.03410.
- [46] P. Le Doussal, S. N. Majumdar and G. Schehr, *Large deviations for the height in 1D Kardar-Parisi-Zhang growth at late times*, Europhys. Lett. **113**, 60004 (2016), doi:10.1209/0295-5075/113/60004.
- [47] P. Sasorov, B. Meerson and S. Prolhac, Large deviations of surface height in the 1+1-dimensional Kardar-Parisi-Zhang equation: exact long-time results for $\lambda H < 0$, J. Stat. Mech. 063203 (2017), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/aa73f8.
- [48] I. Corwin, P. Ghosal, A. Krajenbrink, P. Le Doussal and L.-C. Tsai, *Coulomb-gas electrostatics controls large fluctuations of the Kardar-Parisi-Zhang equation*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **121**, 060201 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.121.060201.
- [49] A. Krajenbrink and P. Le Doussal, *Linear statistics and pushed Coulomb gas at the edge of* β -random matrices: Four paths to large deviations, Europhys. Lett. **125**, 20009 (2019), doi:10.1209/0295-5075/125/20009.
- [50] P. Le Doussal, S. N. Majumdar, A. Rosso and G. Schehr, *Exact short-time height distribution* in the one-dimensional Kardar-Parisi-Zhang equation and edge fermions at high temperature, Phys. Rev. Lett. **117**, 070403 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.117.070403.
- [51] A. Krajenbrink and P. Le Doussal, Exact short-time height distribution in the one-dimensional Kardar-Parisi-Zhang equation with Brownian initial condition, Phys. Rev. E 96, 020102 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevE.96.020102.
- [52] A. Krajenbrink and P. Le Doussal, Simple derivation of the $(-\lambda H)^{5/2}$ large deviation tail for the 1D KPZ equation, J. Stat. Mech. 063210 (2018), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/aac90f.



- [53] A. Krajenbrink, P. Le Doussal and S. Prolhac, Systematic time expansion for the Kardar–Parisi–Zhang equation, linear statistics of the GUE at the edge and trapped fermions, Nucl. Phys. B **936**, 239 (2018), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2018.09.019.
- [54] A. K. Hartmann, P. Le Doussal, S. N. Majumdar, A. Rosso and G. Schehr, *High-precision simulation of the height distribution for the KPZ equation*, Europhys. Lett. **121**, 67004 (2018), doi:10.1209/0295-5075/121/67004.
- [55] A. K. Hartmann, A. Krajenbrink and P. Le Doussal, *Probing large deviations of the Kardar-Parisi-Zhang equation at short times with an importance sampling of directed polymers in random media*, Phys. Rev. E **101**, 012134 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevE.101.012134.
- [56] J. Baik, R. Buckingham and J. DiFranco, *Asymptotics of Tracy-Widom distributions and the total integral of a Painlevé II function*, Commun. Math. Phys. **280**, 463 (2008), doi:10.1007/s00220-008-0433-5.
- [57] P. L. Ferrari and H. Spohn, *A determinantal formula for the GOE Tracy–Widom distribution*, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. **38**, L557 (2005), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/38/33/L02.
- [58] S. Parekh, *The KPZ limit of ASEP with boundary*, Commun. Math. Phys. **365**, 569 (2019), doi:10.1007/s00220-018-3258-x.
- [59] E. H. Lieb and W. Liniger, *Exact analysis of an interacting Bose gas. I. The General Solution and the Ground State*, Phys. Rev. **130**, 1605 (1963), doi:10.1103/PhysRev.130.1605.
- [60] M. Gaudin, Boundary energy of a Bose gas in one dimension, Phys. Rev. A 4, 386 (1971), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.4.386.
- [61] N. Oelkers, M. T. Batchelor, M. Bortz and X.-W. Guan, Bethe ansatz study of one-dimensional Bose and Fermi gases with periodic and hard wall boundary conditions, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 39, 1073 (2006), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/39/5/005.
- [62] M. Gaudin and J-S Caux, The Bethe Wavefunction Cambridge University Press (2014).
- [63] I. Pérez Castillo and T. Dupic, Reunion probabilities of N one-dimensional random walkers with mixed boundary conditions, J. Stat. Phys. **156**, 606 (2014), doi:10.1007/s10955-014-1017-8.
- [64] J. F. van Diejen and E. Emsiz, *Orthogonality of Bethe ansatz eigenfunctions for the Laplacian on a hyperoctahedral Weyl alcove*, Commun. Math. Phys. **350**, 1017 (2017), doi:10.1007/s00220-016-2719-3.
- [65] J. F. van Diejen, E. Emsiz and I.N. Zurrián, Completeness of the Bethe Ansatz for an open q-boson system with integrable boundary interactions, Annales Henri Poincaré 19, 1349 (2018), doi:10.1007/s00023-018-0658-6.
- [66] E. Emsiz, Completeness of the Bethe ansatz on Weyl alcoves, Lett. Math. Phys. **91**, 61(2010), doi:10.1007/s11005-009-0359-7.
- [67] E. Gutkin and B. Sutherland, *Completely integrable systems and groups generated by reflections*, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. **76**, 6057 (1979), doi:10.1073/pnas.76.12.6057.
- [68] G. J. Heckman and E. M. Opdam, *Yang's system of particles and Hecke algebras*, Ann. Math. **145**, 139 (1997), doi:10.2307/2951825.



- [69] Y. Hao, Y. Zhang, J. Q. Liang and S. Chen, Ground-state properties of onedimensional ultracold Bose gases in a hard-wall trap, Phys. Rev. A 73, 063617 (2006), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.73.063617.
- [70] J. B. McGuire, *Study of exactly soluble one-dimensional N-body problems*, J. Math. Phys. **5**, 622 (1964), doi:10.1063/1.1704156.
- [71] T. Imamura, T. Sasamoto, Replica approach to the KPZ equation with half Brownian motion initial condition, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 44, 385001 (2011) doi:10.1088/1751-8113/44/38/385001.
- [72] N. De Bruijn, *On some multiple integrals involving determinants*, J. Indian Math. Soc, **19** 133, (1955), https://pure.tue.nl/ws/files/1920642/597510.pdf.
- [73] E. M. Rains, Correlation functions for symmetrized increasing subsequences (2000), arXiv:math/0006097.
- [74] J. Ortmann, J. Quastel and D. Remenik, *A Pfaffian representation for flat ASEP*, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. **70**, 3 (2016), doi:10.1002/cpa.21644.
- [75] P. J. Forrester, T. Nagao and E. M. Rains, *Correlation functions for random involutions* (2005), arXiv:math/0503074.
- [76] P. J. Forrester and E. M. Rains, *Correlations for superpositions and decimations of Laguerre and Jacobi orthogonal matrix ensembles with a parameter*, Probab. Theory Relat. Fields **130**, 518 (2004), doi:10.1007/s00440-004-0374-7.
- [77] P. J. Forrester, Painlevé transcendent evaluation of the scaled distribution of the smallest eigenvalue in the Laguerre orthogonal and symplectic ensembles (2000), arXiv:nlin/0005064.
- [78] D. E. Knuth, *Overlapping Pfaffians*, Electron. J. Combin. **3**, R5 (1995), doi:10.37236/1263.